
 
 

Meeting of the Members of the Cortland County Industrial Development Agency 
October 10, 2023 – Noon 

40-42 Main Street, Suite A, 2nd Floor Cortland New York, 13405 
Roll Call 
 

Mike McMahon  Chairman   

Stephen Compagni Vice Chairman   

John O. Reagan  Treasurer  

Clint Brooks  Secretary  

Johanna Ames  Member  

Dr. Kathleen Burke  Member  

Donald Richards Member  

Brendan O’Bryan Executive Director  

Karen Niday  Corporate Finance Officer   

Eric Mulvihill Development Specialist   

John Sidd Agency Counsel   
 
Approval of Minutes -  September 11, 2023 
 
New Business 
 

1. Review Minutes of Public Hearing for Kajen LLC Virgil School Housing Project  
 

2. Consider Final Inducement of benefits for Kajen LLC Virgil School Housing Project 
 

3. SEQR Determination/Recommendation – iSpice Foods  Cortland 
 

4. Consideration of Preliminary Inducement of benefits - iSpice Foods  Cortland  
 

5. Authorize the scheduling of required public hearing for  proposed benefits for iSpice Foods 
Cortland 

Monthly Reports 
1.)Finance Report 
2.)Director’s Report  

 
Adjourn 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Minutes  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



DRAFT

Minutes of the Meeting of the Members of the Cortland County Industrial Development 
Agency 

September 11, 2023 – Noon 
40-42 Main Street, Suite A, 2nd Floor Cortland New York, 13405

Roll Call – Chairman McMahon called the meeting to order at 12:12 PM 

Mike McMahon Chairman  Present 

Stephen Compagni Vice Chairman Absent 

John O. Reagan Treasurer Present

Clint Brooks Secretary Present 

Johanna Ames Member Excused 

Dr. Kathleen Burke Member Present 

Donald Richards Member Present 

Executive Director 

Karen Niday  Corporate Finance Officer Present 

Eric Mulvihill Development Specialist  Present 

John Sidd Agency Counsel  Remote 

Approval of Minutes -  June 12, 2023 – Chairman McMahon made a motion to accept the 
minutes as presented, Ms. Burke seconded the motion; all in favor, none opposed.  

New Business 
SEQR Determination/Recommendation – Kajen, LLC Virgil School Housing Project – See 
attached resolution  2023-09-11-01 

Consideration of Preliminary Inducement - Kajen, LLC Virgil School Housing Project – See 
attached resolution  2023 -09-11-02 

Review/Adopt Proposed IDA 2024 Budget – Mr. Reagan made a motion to adopt the 2024 IDA 
budget as presented, Mr. Richards seconded the motion; all voting in favor, none opposed. 

Authorize Brendan O’Bryan as Additional Signatory on IDA Accounts  - Chairman McMahon 
made a motion to remove Garry VanGorder as a signatory on IDA bank accounts and to add 



DRAFT

 
 

Brendan O’Bryan as a signatory, Ms. Burke seconded the motion; all voting in favor, none 
opposed.  
 
Monthly Reports 
1.)Finance Report – Ms. Niday reviewed the monthly financial statements. 
2.)Director’s Report  

 
Adjourn – The meeting was adjourned at 12:57 PM.  



DRAFT

{H5249060.1}  

A regular meeting of Cortland County Industrial Development Agency (the 
"Agency") was convened in public session at the offices of the Agency located at 40 
Main Street, Suite A, in the City of Cortland, Cortland County, New York on September 
11, 2023 at 12:00 o'clock p.m., local time. 
 
 The meeting was called to order by the Chairman and, upon roll being called, the 
following members of the Agency were: 
 
 PRESENT: 
 
 Michael McMahon   Chairman 
 Clinton Brooks   Secretary 
 John O. Reagan   Treasurer 
 Kathleen Burke   Member 

Donald Richards   Member 
 
 ABSENT: Stephen Compagni - Vice Chairman, Johanna Ames  
 Member 
 
 
 
 
 FOLLOWING PERSONS WERE ALSO PRESENT: 
 
 Karen Niday    Chief Financial Officer 
 Eric J. Mulvihill   Community Relations Specialist 
 John P. Sidd, Esq.   Agency Counsel 
 
 
 The following resolution was offered by Chairman McMahon, seconded by Mr. 
Richards, to wit: 
 

Resolution No. 2023-09-11-01  
 

RESOLUTION DETERMINING THAT AN ACTION TO 
UNDERTAKE A COMMERCIAL PROJECT FOR KAJEN, 
LLC, OR AN ENTITY OWNED BY THE SAME 
PRINCIPALS, WILL NOT HAVE A SIGNIFICANT ADVERSE 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT. 

 
 WHEREAS, Cortland County Industrial Development Agency (the "Agency") is 
authorized and empowered by the provisions of Chapter 1030 of the 1969 Laws of New 
York, constituting Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law, Chapter 24 of the 
Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended (the "Enabling Act") and Chapter 77 of 
the 1974 Laws of New York, as amended, constituting Section 902 of said General 
Municipal Law (said Chapter and the Enabling Act being hereinafter collectively referred 



DRAFT

{H5249060.1} 2 
 

to as the "Act") to promote, develop, encourage and assist in the acquiring, 
constructing, reconstructing, improving, maintaining, equipping and furnishing of 
commercial facilities, among others, for the purpose of promoting, attracting and 
developing economically sound commerce and industry to advance the job 
opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the people of the 
State of New York, to improve their prosperity and standard of living, and to prevent 
unemployment and economic deterioration; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to accomplish its stated purposes, the Agency is authorized and 
empowered under the Act to acquire, construct, reconstruct and install one or more 
"projects" (as defined in the Act) or to cause said projects to be acquired, constructed, 
reconstructed and installed, and to convey said projects or to lease said projects with 
the obligation to purchase; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Kajen, LLC, or an entity owned by the same principals, (the 
"Company") has presented an application (the "Application") to the Agency, a copy of 
which was presented at this meeting and copies of which are on file at the office of the 
Agency, requesting that the Agency consider undertaking a project (the "Project") 
consisting of the following: (A) (1) the acquisition of an interest in an approximately 7.9 
acre parcel of land (the "Land") located at 1208 Church Street and Owego Hill Road in 
the Town of Virgil, Cortland County, New York (2) the renovation of a vacant former 
school building on the Land containing approximately 26,158 square feet of space (the 
"Facility") and (3) the acquisition and installation therein and thereon of certain 
furnishings, fixtures and equipment (the "Equipment"), all of the foregoing to constitute a 
residential building consisting of approximately 19 residential units and a community 
center to be operated by the Company and occupied by residential tenants in excess of 
55 years of age (the Land, the Facility and the Equipment being collectively referred to 
as the "Project Facility"); (B) the granting of certain "financial assistance" (within the 
meaning of Section 854(14) of the Act) with respect to the foregoing, including potential 
exemptions from certain sales taxes, real estate transfer taxes, mortgage recording 
taxes and real property taxes (collectively, the "Financial Assistance"); and (C) the lease 
(with an obligation to purchase) or sale of the Project Facility to the Company or such 
other person as may be designated by the Company and agreed upon by the Agency; 
and 
 
  
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 8 of the Environmental Conservation Law, 
Chapter 43-B of the Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended ("SEQRA") and the 
regulations adopted pursuant thereto by the Department of Environmental Conservation 
of the State of New York, being 6 NYCRR Part 617, as amended (the "SEQRA 
Regulations", the Agency desires to determine whether the Project may have a 
significant adverse environmental impact therefore requiring the preparation of an 
environmental impact statement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to aid the Agency in determining whether the Project may have a 
significant adverse impact upon the environment, the Company has completed and 



DRAFT

{H5249060.1} 3 
 

submitted to the Agency Part 1 of a Short Environmental Assessment Form (the "EAF") 
for the Project, a copy of which was presented to and reviewed by the Agency at this 
meeting and a copy of which is on file at the office of the Agency; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency has examined the Application, Part 1 of the EAF, and 
classified the proposed Project as an “Unlisted Action” that is subject to SEQR; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency desires to establish itself as “Lead Agency" for purposes 
of the required SEQR review of the Project; and  
 

WHEREAS, as an Unlisted Action coordinated SEQR review with other involved 
agencies is optional, and the Agency has determined it will not coordinate review with 
other involved agencies; and 

 
WHEREAS, on April 27, 2023, the Town of Virgil Planning Board determined that 

the Project would not result in any significant adverse environmental impacts after 
completion of its own uncoordinated SEQR review of the Project; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Agency, having reviewed the proposed action, has completed a 
EAF Part 2 for the Project and makes the following findings and determination of 
significance with respect to the Project: 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF CORTLAND 
COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1.  Based upon an examination of the Application and the Part 1 of the 
EAF, and based further upon the Agency's knowledge of the area surrounding the 
Project Facility, and based upon its completion of Part 2 of the EAF, and based upon 
such further investigation of the Project and its environmental effects as the Agency has 
deemed appropriate, the Agency makes the following findings with respect to the 
Project: 
 
  A. The Project consists of the following: A) (1) the acquisition of an 
interest in an approximately 7.9 acre parcel of land (the "Land") located at 1208 Church 
Street and Owego Hill Road in the Town of Virgil, Cortland County, New York (2) the 
renovation of a vacant former school building on the Land containing approximately 
26,158 square feet of space (the "Facility") and (3) the acquisition and installation 
therein and thereon of certain furnishings, fixtures and equipment (the "Equipment"), all 
of the foregoing to constitute a residential building consisting of approximately 38 
residential units and a community center to be operated by the Company and occupied 
by residential tenants in excess of 55 years of age (the Land, the Facility and the 
Equipment being collectively referred to as the "Project Facility"); (B) the granting of 
certain "financial assistance" (within the meaning of Section 854(14) of the Act) with 
respect to the foregoing, including potential exemptions from certain sales taxes, real 
estate transfer taxes, mortgage recording taxes and real property taxes (collectively, the 
"Financial Assistance"); and (C) the lease (with an obligation to purchase) or sale of the 



DRAFT

{H5249060.1} 4 
 

Project Facility to the Company or such other person as may be designated by the 
Company and agreed upon by the Agency; and 
 
  B. No potentially large impacts on the environment exist, as described 
and assessed in Part 2 of the EAF, and none are known to the Agency. 
 
  C. The Project essentially involves the acquisition and internal and 
external renovation and adaptive reuse of an existing former school building, not 
construction of a new facility, and will cause minimal if any impact to the land, surface 
and ground waters, or to other environmental resources.  The Project will improve the 
aesthetic resources in the Project area and will help revitalize that portion of the Town of 
Virgil by refurbishing a vacant former school building.  Although endangered species of 
wildlife have been observed in the general Project area according to online wildlife 
inventory resources, the Project area consists of existing industrial, commercial and 
residential uses and infrastructure, and the Project will not remove or disturb wildlife 
habitat.  No open spaces, recreational areas will be affected, and no traffic impacts are 
expected.  Additionally, no new roads or utilities will be required to support the proposed 
Project.  For all of the aforementioned reasons, the Agency finds that there will be no 
significant environmental impacts as a result of the Project. 
 
 Section 2.  Based upon the foregoing investigation of the potential environmental 
impacts of the Project and consideration of the magnitude and importance of each 
potential environmental impact indicated in Parts 1 and 2 of the EAF, the Agency makes 
the following findings and determinations with respect to the Project: 
 
  A. The Project is an "Unlisted Action" (as said term is defined in the 
SEQRA Regulations) and, therefore, is subject to SEQRA.  Coordinated review and 
notification of other involved agencies is not required.  The Agency hereby determines 
that it will not undertake a coordinated review of the Project with other involved 
agencies.  Other involved agencies must make their own determination of significance 
with respect to SEQRA. 
 
  B. Because the Project will not result in any substantial physical 
changes to the existing structure and/or property or to surrounding resources and will 
cause only positive aesthetic changes to the area, the Project will not result in any 
significant adverse environmental impacts and, thus, will not require the preparation of 
an environmental impact statement. 
 
  C. As a consequence of the foregoing, the Agency hereby finds that 
the Project will not cause any significant adverse environmental impact and issues a 
negative declaration with respect to the Project. 
 
 Section 3.  The Executive Director or the Chief Financial Officer of the Agency 
are hereby directed to prepare a negative declaration Notice form with respect to the 
Project, said negative declaration to be substantially in the form and to the effect of the 
negative declaration attached hereto and incorporating this Resolution, and to cause 



DRAFT



DRAFT

{H5248952.1}  

 A regular meeting of Cortland County Industrial Development Agency (the 
"Agency") was convened in public session at the offices of the Agency located at 40 Main 
Street, Suite A, in the City of Cortland, Cortland County, New York on September 11, 
2023 at 12:00 o'clock p.m., local time. 
 
 The meeting was called to order by the Chairman and, upon roll being called, the 
following members of the Agency were: 
 
 PRESENT: 
 

Michael McMahon   Chairman 
 Clinton Brooks   Secretary 
 John O. Reagan   Treasurer 
 Kathleen Burke   Member 

Donald Richards   Member 
  
 
 ABSENT: Stephen Compagni, Johanna Ames  
 
 
FOLLOWING PERSONS WERE ALSO PRESENT: 
 
 Karen Niday    Chief Financial Officer 

Eric J. Mulvihill   Community Relations Specialist 
 John P. Sidd, Esq.   Agency Counsel 
 
 
 The following resolution was offered by Chairman McMahon, seconded by Mr. 
Reagan, to wit: 
 
 

Resolution No. 2023 -09-11-02 
 

RESOLUTION TAKING PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL ACTION 
TOWARD THE ACQUISITION, CONSTRUCTION, 
INSTALLATION AND LEASING OF A CERTAIN 
COMMERCIAL PROJECT FOR KAJEN, LLC, OR AN 
ENTITY OWNED BY THE SAME PRINCIPALS. 

 
 
 WHEREAS, Cortland County Industrial Development Agency (the "Agency") is 
authorized and empowered by the provisions of Chapter 1030 of the 1969 Laws of New 
York, constituting Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law, Chapter 24 of the 
Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended (the "Enabling Act") and Chapter 77 of the 
1974 Laws of New York, as amended, constituting Section 902 of said General Municipal 
Law (said Chapter and the Enabling Act being hereinafter collectively referred to as the 



DRAFT

{H5248952.1} 2 
 

"Act") to promote, develop, encourage and assist in the acquiring, constructing, 
reconstructing, improving, maintaining, equipping and furnishing of commercial facilities, 
among others, for the purpose of promoting, attracting and developing economically 
sound commerce and industry to advance the job opportunities, health, general prosperity 
and economic welfare of the people of the State of New York, to improve their prosperity 
and standard of living, and to prevent unemployment and economic deterioration; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to accomplish its stated purposes, the Agency is authorized and 
empowered under the Act to acquire, construct, reconstruct and install one or more 
"projects" (as defined in the Act) or to cause said projects to be acquired, constructed, 
reconstructed and installed, and to convey said projects or to lease said projects with the 
obligation to purchase; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Kajen, LLC, or an entity owned by the same principals, (the 
"Company") has presented an application (the "Application") to the Agency, a copy of 
which was presented at this meeting and copies of which are on file at the office of the 
Agency, requesting that the Agency consider undertaking a project (the "Project") 
consisting of the following: (A) (1) the acquisition of an interest in an approximately 7.9 
acre parcel of land (the "Land") located at 1208 Church Street and Owego Hill Road in 
the Town of Virgil, Cortland County, New York (2) the renovation of a vacant former school 
building on the Land containing approximately 26,158 square feet of space (the "Facility") 
and (3) the acquisition and installation therein and thereon of certain furnishings, fixtures 
and equipment (the "Equipment"), all of the foregoing to constitute a residential building 
consisting of approximately 19 residential units and a community center to be operated 
by the Company and occupied by residential tenants in excess of 55 years of age (the 
Land, the Facility and the Equipment being collectively referred to as the "Project 
Facility"); (B) the granting of certain "financial assistance" (within the meaning of Section 
854(14) of the Act) with respect to the foregoing, including potential exemptions from 
certain sales taxes, real estate transfer taxes, mortgage recording taxes and real property 
taxes (collectively, the "Financial Assistance"); and (C) the lease (with an obligation to 
purchase) or sale of the Project Facility to the Company or such other person as may be 
designated by the Company and agreed upon by the Agency; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency has given due consideration to the Application and to 
representations by the Company that (A) the granting by the Agency of the Financial 
Assistance with respect to the Project will be an inducement to the Company to undertake 
the Project in Cortland County, New York, and (B) the completion of the Project Facility 
will not result in the removal of an industrial or manufacturing plant of the Company or 
any other proposed occupant of the Project Facility from one area of the State of New 
York to another area of the State of New York or in the abandonment of a plant or facility 
of the Company or any other proposed occupant of the Project Facility located in the State 
of New York; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency desires to encourage the Company to preserve and 
advance the job opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the 



DRAFT

{H5248952.1} 3 
 

people of Cortland County, New York by undertaking the Project in Cortland County, New 
York; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 8 of the Environmental Conservation Law, Chapter 
43-B of the Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended (the "SEQR Act"), and the 
regulations (the "Regulations") adopted pursuant thereto by the Department of 
Environmental Conservation of the State of New York (collectively with the SEQR Act, 
"SEQRA"), by resolution adopted by the members of the Agency on September 11, 2023 
(the "SEQR Resolution"), the Agency has determined that the Project will not have a 
significant effect on the environment and, therefore, that an environmental impact 
statement is not required to be prepared with respect to the Project; and 
  
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the Act, any approval of the Project contained herein is 
contingent upon a determination by the members of the Agency to proceed with the 
Project following satisfaction of the public hearing and notice requirements and other 
procedural requirements contained in Section 859-a of the Act that relate to the Project; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF CORTLAND 
COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1.  The Agency has reviewed the Application and based upon the 
representations made by the Company to the Agency in the Application and at this 
meeting and, based thereon, the Agency hereby makes the following findings and 
determinations with respect to the Project: 
 
  (A) The Project constitutes a "project" within the meaning of the Act; and 
 
  (B) The completion of the Project Facility will not result in the removal of 

an industrial or manufacturing plant of the Company or any other proposed 
occupant of the Project Facility from one area of the State of New York to another 
area of the State of New York and the completion of the Project Facility will not 
result in the abandonment of a plant or facility of a proposed occupant of the 
Project Facility located in the State of New York. 

 
  (C) The Project Facility will not constitute a project where facilities or 

property that are primarily used in making retail sales of goods or services to 
customers who personally visit such facilities constitute more than one-third of the 
total cost of the Project; and 

 
  (D) The granting of the Financial Assistance by the Agency with respect 

to the Project, through the granting of the various tax exemptions described in 
Section 2(D) of this Resolution, will promote the job opportunities, health, general 
prosperity and economic welfare of the inhabitants of Cortland County, New York 
and the State of New York and improve their standard of living, and thereby serve 
the public purposes of the Act; and 

 



DRAFT

{H5248952.1} 4 
 

  (E) Upon compliance with the provisions of the Act, the Agency would 
then be authorized under the Act to undertake the Project in order to promote the 
job opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the 
inhabitants of Cortland County, New York and the State of New York and improve 
their standard of living. 

 
 Section 2.  If, following full compliance with the requirements of the Act, including 
the public hearing requirements set forth in Section 859-a of the Act, the Agency adopts 
a future resolution (the "Future Resolution") determining to proceed with the Project and 
to grant the Financial Assistance with respect thereto and the Company complies with all 
conditions set forth in the Future Resolution, then the Agency will (A) acquire an interest 
in the Project Facility from the Company pursuant to a deed, lease agreement or other 
documentation to be negotiated between the Agency and the Company (the "Acquisition 
Agreement"); (B) construct the Facility and acquire and install the Equipment in the 
Facility or elsewhere on the Land; (C) lease (with the obligation to purchase) or sell the 
Project Facility to the Company pursuant to a lease agreement or an installment sale 
agreement (hereinafter the "Project Agreement") between the Agency and the Company 
whereby the Company will be obligated, among other things, (1) to make payments to the 
Agency in amounts and at times so that such payments will be adequate to enable the 
Agency to timely pay all amounts due on the Acquisition Agreement and (2) to pay all 
costs incurred by the Agency with respect to the Project and/or the Project Facility, 
including all costs of operation and maintenance, all taxes and other governmental 
charges, any required payments in lieu of taxes and the reasonable fees and expenses 
incurred by the Agency with respect to or in connection with the Project and/or the Project 
Facility, and (D) provide the Financial Assistance with respect to the Project, in 
accordance with the Agency's uniform tax exemption policy, including (1) exemption from 
mortgage recording taxes with respect to any documents recorded by the Agency with 
respect to the Project in the Office of the County Clerk of Cortland County, New York or 
elsewhere, (2) exemption from sales taxes relating to the acquisition, construction and 
installation of the Project Facility, (3) exemption from deed transfer taxes and real estate 
transfer gains taxes on real estate transfers to and from the Agency with respect to the 
Project, and (4) exemption from real estate taxes (but not including special assessments 
and special ad valorem levies) relating to the Project Facility, subject to the obligation of 
the Company to make payments in lieu of taxes with respect to the Project Facility. 
 
 Section 3.  If the Agency adopts the Future Resolution, the undertaking and 
completing of the Project by the Agency, and the granting of the Financial Assistance with 
respect to the Project as contemplated by Section 2 of this Resolution, shall be subject 
to:  (A) the determination by the members of the Agency to proceed with the Project 
following a determination by the members of the Agency that all requirements of SEQRA 
that relate to the Project have been fulfilled; (B) agreement by the Agency and the 
Company on mutually acceptable terms for the conveyance of the Land to the Agency; 
(C) agreement between the Company and the Agency as to payment by the Company of 
payments in lieu of taxes with respect to the Project Facility, together with the 
administrative fee of the Agency with respect to the Project; (D) a determination by the 
members of the Agency to proceed with the granting of the Financial Assistance with 



DRAFT

{H5248952.1} 5 
 

respect to the Project following a determination by the members of the Agency that the 
public hearing and notice requirements and other procedural requirements contained in 
Section 859-a of the Act have been complied with; (E) the Agency's uniform tax exemption 
policy or if any portion of the Financial Assistance to be granted by the Agency with 
respect to the Project is not consistent with the Agency's uniform tax exemption policy, 
the Agency must follow the procedures for deviation from such policy set forth in Section 
874(b) of the Act prior to granting such portion of the Financial Assistance; and (F) the 
following additional condition(s): None. 
 
 Section 4.  The officers, agents and employees of the Agency are hereby 
authorized, empowered and directed to proceed with the undertakings provided for herein 
on the part of the Agency and are further authorized to do all such acts and things and to 
execute all such documents as may be necessary or convenient to carry out and comply 
with the terms and provisions of this Resolution. 
 
 Section 5.  John P. Sidd, Esq., of the law firm of Hancock Estabrook LLP is hereby 
appointed Special Counsel to the Agency with respect to all matters in connection with 
the Project.  Special Counsel for the Agency is hereby authorized, at the expense of the 
Company, to work with the Company, counsel to the Company and others to prepare for 
submission to the Agency, all documents necessary to effect the transactions 
contemplated by this Resolution. 
 

Section 6.  Pursuant to Section 875(3) of the Act, the Agency shall recover, 
recapture, receive, or otherwise obtain from the Company that portion of the Financial 
Assistance which constitutes state sales and use tax exemptions taken or purported to 
be taken by the Company to which the Company is not entitled or which are in excess of 
the amount authorized by the Agency or which are for property or services not authorized 
by the Agency as part of the Project or were taken by the Company when the Company 
failed to comply with a material term or condition to use property or services in the manner 
required by the Agency.  The Company shall cooperate with the Agency in its efforts to 
recover, recapture, receive, or otherwise obtain such state sales and use tax exemptions 
and shall promptly pay over any such amounts to the Agency.  The failure to pay over 
such amounts to the Agency shall be grounds for the New York State Commissioner of 
Taxation and Finance to assess and determine state sales and use taxes due from the 
Company under Article 28 of the Tax Law of the State of New York, together with any 
relevant penalties and interest due on such amounts. 
 
 Section 7.  The Executive Director and the Chief Financial Officer of the Agency, 
prior to the granting of any Financial Assistance with respect to the Project, after 
consultation with Special Counsel, are authorized (A) to establish a time, date and place 
for a public hearing of the Agency to hear all persons interested in the location and nature 
of the Project Facility and the proposed Financial Assistance being contemplated by the 
Agency with respect to the Project, said public hearing to be held in the city, town or 
village where the Project Facility will be located; (B) to cause notice of such public hearing 
to be given to the public by publishing a notice of such hearing in a newspaper of general 
circulation available to residents of the governmental units where the Project Facility is to 



DRAFT

{H5248952.1} 6 
 

be located, such notice to comply with the requirements of Section 859-a of the Act and 
to be published no fewer than ten (10) days prior to the date established for such public 
hearing; (C) to cause notice of said public hearing to be given to the chief executive officer 
of the county and each city, town, village and school district in which the Project Facility 
is or is to be located no fewer than ten (10) days prior to the date established for said 
public hearing; (D) to conduct such public hearing; and (E) to cause a report of said public 
hearing fairly summarizing the views presented at said public hearing to be promptly 
prepared. 
 
 Section 8.  The Chairman, Vice Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Financial 
Officer of the Agency are hereby authorized and directed to distribute copies of this 
Resolution to the Company and to do such further things or perform such acts as may be 
necessary or convenient to implement the provisions of this Resolution. 
 
 Section 9. This Resolution shall take effect immediately. 
 
 The question of the adoption of the foregoing Resolution was duly put to a vote on 
roll call, which resulted as follows: 

 
Michael McMahon   VOTING Aye  

 Stephen Compagni   VOTING Absent 
 Clinton Brooks   VOTING Aye 
 John O. Reagan   VOTING Aye 
 Johanna Ames   VOTING Absent 
 Kathleen Burke   VOTING Aye 

Donald Richards   VOTING Aye 
 
 
The foregoing Resolution was thereupon declared duly adopted. 
 
STATE OF NEW YORK ) 
COUNTY OF CORTLAND )  ss.: 
 
 I, the undersigned Secretary of Cortland County Industrial Development Agency 
(the "Agency"), DO HEREBY CERTIFY, that I have compared the foregoing extract of the 
minutes of the meeting of the members of the Agency, including the Resolution contained 
therein, held on September 11, 2023 with the original thereof on file in my office, and that 
the same is a true and correct copy of such proceedings of the Agency and of such 
Resolution set forth therein and of the whole of said original so far as the same related to 
the subject matters therein referred to. 
 
 I FURTHER CERTIFY that (A) all members of the Agency had due notice of said 
meeting; (B) said meeting was in all respect duly held; (C) pursuant to Article 7 of the 
Public Officers Law (the "Open Meetings Law"), said meeting was open to the general 
public and due notice of the time and place of said meeting was given in accordance with 



DRAFT



 
 

 
 

 
 

 

New Business 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Review Minutes of Public 

Hearing for Kajen llc Virgil 

School Housing Project    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Minutes of the Public Hearing For Kajen LLC Proposed Project and Financial 
Assistance - October 4, 2023, held at the Virgil Town Hall 1176 Church Street 

 
The Public Hearing was called to order at 11 A.M. 
 

Gary Wood  Resident  

Al Kryger Resident  

Steve Terwilliger Project Developer Kajen LLC 

Gayle Kryger  Resident  

John Kaminski Virgil Town Supervisor  

William Turner Resident  

Karen Niday Cortland County IDA  

Brendan O’Bryan Cortland County IDA 

Eric Mulvihill Cortland County IDA 
 
Mr. Mulvihill opened the public hearing and read the legal notice as published in the Cortland 
Standard on September 15th, 2023. 
 
Mr. Mulvihill provided copies of the revised project summary sheet to the individuals in 
attendance. 
 
Supervisor Kaminski asked if the developer has closed on the property that is the subject of the 
proposed financial assistance.  
 
Ms. Niday  explained that one of the benefits that the developer has requested is abatement of 
the mortgage recording tax and the project benefits would be contingent on the developer 
completing purchase of the property. 
 
Mr. Kaminski said he is disappointed that the public hearing for the project was being held during 
the day and not in the evening, he feels that more residents would have offered comments on the 
project if the hearing were held later in the day.  
 
Ms. Niday reviewed the project summary document and explained how she arrived at the 
proposed PILOT figures. 
 
Mr. Wood inquired about the $136,278 real property tax figure and asked for clarification. Ms. 
Niday explained that the figure is an estimate of the taxes that will not be paid over the term of 
the PILOT based on the proposed assessment for the property.  



 
 

 
Supervisor Kaminski asked if the Town of Virgil will be provided with the annual abatement 
amounts. Ms. Niday said that as part of the IDA’s oversight of PILOTS that she routinely works 
with Town Clerks and Fiscal Officers to provide the PILOT figures to be included in the 
municipality’s annual budgets.  Ms. Niday also pointed out that fire district or other special 
district taxes are not included in PILOT agreements and that the Virgil Fire District will see 
additional revenue as a result of this project. It was pointed out that the project site is presently 
tax exempt and that this proposed development will bring the property onto the tax rolls over the 
course of the next 10 years. 
 
Mr. Wood said this project would bring new taxes to the Town and asked that the proposed 
incentives be approved. 
 
Mr. Kryger said he feels that because the project is receiving taxpayer benefits that the tenants 
of the development should receive the benefit of some sort of rent control. He added that he 
believes this proposal is good for the community.  
 
Adjourn – The hearing was closed at 11:20AM.  



 
 

 
 

 
 

Consider Resolution to 

Finalize Preliminary 

Inducement of benefits for 

Kajen llc Virgil School 

Housing Project   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



{H5284311.1}  

A regular meeting of Cortland County Industrial Development Agency (the 
"Agency") was convened in public session at the offices of the Agency located at 40 
Main Street, Suite A, in the City of Cortland, Cortland County, New York on October 10, 
2023 at 12:00 o'clock p.m., local time. 
 
 The meeting was called to order by the Chairman and, upon roll being called, the 
following members of the Agency were: 
 
 PRESENT: 
 

Michael McMahon   Chairman 
 Stephen Compagni   Vice Chairman 
 Clinton Brooks   Secretary 
 John O. Reagan   Treasurer 
 Johanna Ames   Member 
 Kathleen Burke   Member 

Donald Richards   Member 
  
 
 ABSENT: 
 
 
FOLLOWING PERSONS WERE ALSO PRESENT: 
 

Brendan O'Bryan    Executive Director 
Karen Niday    Chief Financial Officer 
Eric J. Mulvihill   Community Relations Specialist 

 John P. Sidd, Esq.   Agency Counsel 
  
 
 The following resolution was offered by ________________, seconded by 
______________, to wit: 
 
 

Resolution No. _____________ 
 
 

RESOLUTION FINALIZING THE PRELIMINARY 
INDUCEMENT RESOLUTION FOR A CERTAIN 
COMMERCIAL PROJECT FOR KAJEN, LLC 

 
 WHEREAS, Cortland County Industrial Development Agency (the "Agency") is 
authorized and empowered by the provisions of Chapter 1030 of the 1969 Laws of New 
York, constituting Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law, Chapter 24 of the 
Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended (the "Enabling Act") and Chapter 77 of 
the 1974 Laws of New York, as amended, constituting Section 902 of said General 



{H5284311.1} 2 
 

Municipal Law (said Chapter and the Enabling Act being hereinafter collectively referred 
to as the "Act") to promote, develop, encourage and assist in the acquiring, 
constructing, reconstructing, improving, maintaining, equipping and furnishing of 
commercial facilities, among others, for the purpose of promoting, attracting and 
developing economically sound commerce and industry to advance the job 
opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the people of the 
State of New York, to improve their prosperity and standard of living, and to prevent 
unemployment and economic deterioration; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to accomplish its stated purposes, the Agency is authorized and 
empowered under the Act to acquire, construct, reconstruct and install one or more 
"projects" (as defined in the Act) or to cause said projects to be acquired, constructed, 
reconstructed and installed, and to convey said projects or to lease said projects with 
the obligation to purchase; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to an application (the "Application") presented to the 
Agency by Kajen, LLC (the "Company"), as well as a cost benefit analysis, the members 
of the Agency, on September 11, 2023, adopted a resolution (the "Preliminary 
Inducement Resolution") whereby the Agency preliminarily agreed, subject to numerous 
conditions, to consider undertaking a project (the "Project") consisting of the following: 
(A) (1) the acquisition of an interest in an approximately 7.9 acre parcel of land (the 
"Land") located at 1208 Church Street and Owego Hill Road in the Town of Virgil, 
Cortland County, New York (2) the renovation of a vacant former school building on the 
Land containing approximately 26,158 square feet of space (the "Facility") and (3) the 
acquisition and installation therein and thereon of certain furnishings, fixtures and 
equipment (the "Equipment"), all of the foregoing to constitute a residential building 
consisting of approximately 19 residential units and a community center to be operated 
by the Company and occupied by residential tenants in excess of 55 years of age (the 
Land, the Facility and the Equipment being collectively referred to as the "Project 
Facility"); (B) the granting of certain "financial assistance" (within the meaning of Section 
854(14) of the Act) with respect to the foregoing, including potential exemptions from 
certain sales taxes, real estate transfer taxes, mortgage recording taxes and real 
property taxes (collectively, the "Financial Assistance"); and (C) the lease (with an 
obligation to purchase) or sale of the Project Facility to the Company or such other 
person as may be designated by the Company and agreed upon by the Agency; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Preliminary Inducement Resolution the Chief 
Financial Officer of the Agency (A) caused notice of a public hearing of the Agency to 
hear all persons interested in the Project and the financial assistance being 
contemplated by the Agency with respect to the Project (the "Public Hearing") to be 
published on September 15, 2023 in the Cortland Standard, a newspaper of general 
circulation available to residents of the County of Cortland, (B) conducted the Public 
Hearing on October 4, 2023 at 11:00 o'clock a.m. local time in the Virgil Town Hall 
located at 1176 Church Street in the Town of Virgil, Cortland County, (C) prepared a 
report of the Public Hearing which fairly summarized the views presented at said public 
hearing and distributed same to the members of the Agency; and  



{H5284311.1} 3 
 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 8 of the Environmental Conservation Law, 

Chapter 43-B of the Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended (the "SEQR Act"), 
and the regulations (the "Regulations") adopted pursuant thereto by the Department of 
Environmental Conservation of the State of New York (collectively with the SEQR Act, 
"SEQRA"), the members of the Agency adopted a resolution on September 11, 2023 
(the "SEQR Resolution") in which the Agency determined that the Project will not have a 
"significant effect on the environment" pursuant to SEQRA and, therefore, that no 
environmental impact statement need be prepared with respect to the Project and that a 
negative declaration would be prepared with respect to the Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, having complied with the requirements of Section 859-a of the Act 
and the requirements of SEQRA with respect to the Project, the Agency now desires to 
make its final determination whether to proceed with the Project; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF CORTLAND 
COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1.  The Agency hereby determines that the Agency has now fully 
complied with the requirements of Section 859-a of the Act and the requirements of 
SEQRA that relate to the Project. 
 
 Section 2.  Having reviewed the Report, and having considered fully all 
comments contained therein, the Agency hereby further determines to proceed with the 
Project and the granting of the Financial Assistance described in the notice of the Public 
Hearing. 
 

Section 3.  Pursuant to Section 875(3) of the Act, the Agency shall recover, 
recapture, receive, or otherwise obtain from the Company that portion of the Financial 
Assistance which constitutes state sales and use tax exemptions taken or purported to 
be taken by the Company to which the Company is not entitled or which are in excess 
of the amount authorized by the Agency or which are for property or services not 
authorized by the Agency as part of the Project or were taken by the Company when 
the Company failed to comply with a material term or condition to use property or 
services in the manner required by the Agency.  The Company shall cooperate with the 
Agency in its efforts to recover, recapture, receive, or otherwise obtain such state sales 
and use tax exemptions and shall promptly pay over any such amounts to the Agency.  
The failure to pay over such amounts to the Agency shall be grounds for the New York 
State Commissioner of Taxation and Finance to assess and determine state sales and 
use taxes due from the Company under Article 28 of the Tax Law of the State of New 
York, together with any relevant penalties and interest due on such amounts. 
 
 Section 4. The Chairman, Vice Chairman and Executive Director of the 
Agency are hereby authorized and directed to distribute copies of this Resolution to the 
Company and to do such further things or perform such acts as may be necessary or 
convenient to implement the provisions of this Resolution. 



{H5284311.1} 4 
 

 
 Section 5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately. 
 
 The question of the adoption of the foregoing Resolution was duly put to a vote 
on roll call, which resulted as follows: 

 
Michael McMahon   VOTING ______________ 
Stephen Compagni   VOTING ______________ 
Clinton Brooks   VOTING ______________ 
John O. Reagan   VOTING ______________ 
Johanna Ames   VOTING ______________ 
Kathleen Burke   VOTING ______________ 
Donald Richards   VOTING ______________ 

 
The foregoing Resolution was thereupon declared duly adopted. 
 
STATE OF NEW YORK ) 
COUNTY OF CORTLAND )  ss.: 
 
 I, the undersigned Secretary of Cortland County Industrial Development Agency 
(the "Agency"), DO HEREBY CERTIFY, that I have compared the foregoing extract of 
the minutes of the meeting of the members of the Agency, including the Resolution 
contained therein, held on October 10, 2023 with the original thereof on file in my office, 
and that the same is a true and correct copy of such proceedings of the Agency and of 
such Resolution set forth therein and of the whole of said original so far as the same 
related to the subject matters therein referred to. 
 
 I FURTHER CERTIFY that (A) all members of the Agency had due notice of said 
meeting; (B) said meeting was in all respect duly held; (C) pursuant to Article 7 of the 
Public Officers Law (the "Open Meetings Law"), said meeting was open to the general 
public and due notice of the time and place of said meeting was given in accordance 
with such Open Meetings Law; and (D) there was a quorum of the members of the 
Agency present through said meeting. 
 
 I FURTHER CERTIFY that, as of the date hereof, the attached Resolution is in 
full force and effect and has not been amended, repealed or rescinded. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of 
the Agency this 10th day of October, 2023. 
 
        __________________________ 
        Clinton Brooks, Secretary 



 
 

 
 

 
 

Consider Resolution 

authorizing the execution of 

documents in connection with 

a straight-lease transaction for 

Kajen, llc Virgil School Project  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



{H5284363.1}  

 A regular meeting of Cortland County Industrial Development Agency (the 
"Agency") was convened in public session at the offices of the Agency located at 40 
Main Street, Suite A, in the City of Cortland, Cortland County, New York on October 10, 
2023 at 12:00 o'clock p.m., local time. 
 
 The meeting was called to order by the Chairman and, upon roll being called, the 
following members of the Agency were: 
 
 PRESENT: 
 

Michael McMahon   Chairman 
Stephen Compagni   Vice Chairman 
Clinton Brooks   Secretary 
John O. Reagan   Treasurer 
Johanna Ames   Member 
Kathleen Burke   Member 
Donald Richards   Member 
 

  
 ABSENT: 
 
FOLLOWING PERSONS WERE ALSO PRESENT: 
 
 Brendan O'Bryan    Executive Director 

Karen Niday    Chief Financial Officer 
Eric J. Mulvihill   Community Relations Specialist 

 John P. Sidd, Esq.   Agency Counsel 
 
 
 
 The following resolution was offered by ________________, seconded by 
______________, to wit: 
 
 

Resolution No. _____________ 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF 
DOCUMENTS IN CONNECTION WITH A STRAIGHT-
LEASE TRANSACTION FOR A COMMERCIAL PROJECT 
FOR KAJEN, LLC  

 
 WHEREAS, Cortland County Industrial Development Agency (the "Agency") is 
authorized and empowered by the provisions of Chapter 1030 of the 1969 Laws of New 
York, constituting Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law, Chapter 24 of the 
Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended (the "Enabling Act") and Chapter 77 of 
the 1974 Laws of New York, as amended, constituting Section 902 of said General 



{H5284363.1} 2 
 

Municipal Law (said Chapter and the Enabling Act being hereinafter collectively referred 
to as the "Act") to promote, develop, encourage and assist in the acquiring, 
constructing, reconstructing, improving, maintaining, equipping and furnishing of 
commercial facilities, among others, for the purpose of promoting, attracting and 
developing economically sound commerce and industry to advance the job 
opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the people of the 
State of New York, to improve their prosperity and standard of living, and to prevent 
unemployment and economic deterioration; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to accomplish its stated purposes, the Agency is authorized and 
empowered under the Act to acquire, construct, reconstruct and install one or more 
"projects" (as defined in the Act) or to cause said projects to be acquired, constructed, 
reconstructed and installed, and to convey said projects or to lease said projects with 
the obligation to purchase; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to an application (the "Application") presented to the 
Agency by Kajen, LLC (the "Company"), as well as a cost benefit analysis, the members 
of the Agency, on September 11, 2023, adopted a resolution (the "Preliminary 
Inducement Resolution") whereby the Agency preliminarily agreed, subject to numerous 
conditions, to consider undertaking a project (the "Project") consisting of the following: 
(A) (1) the acquisition of an interest in an approximately 7.9 acre parcel of land (the 
"Land") located at 1208 Church Street and Owego Hill Road in the Town of Virgil, 
Cortland County, New York (2) the renovation of a vacant former school building on the 
Land containing approximately 26,158 square feet of space (the "Facility") and (3) the 
acquisition and installation therein and thereon of certain furnishings, fixtures and 
equipment (the "Equipment"), all of the foregoing to constitute a residential building 
consisting of approximately 19 residential units and a community center to be operated 
by the Company and occupied by residential tenants in excess of 55 years of age (the 
Land, the Facility and the Equipment being collectively referred to as the "Project 
Facility"); (B) the granting of certain "financial assistance" (within the meaning of Section 
854(14) of the Act) with respect to the foregoing, including potential exemptions from 
certain sales taxes, real estate transfer taxes, mortgage recording taxes and real 
property taxes (collectively, the "Financial Assistance"); and (C) the lease (with an 
obligation to purchase) or sale of the Project Facility to the Company or such other 
person as may be designated by the Company and agreed upon by the Agency; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Preliminary Inducement Resolution the Chief 
Financial Officer of the Agency (A) caused notice of a public hearing of the Agency to 
hear all persons interested in the Project and the financial assistance being 
contemplated by the Agency with respect to the Project (the "Public Hearing") to be 
published on September 15, 2023 in the Cortland Standard, a newspaper of general 
circulation available to residents of the County of Cortland, (B) conducted the Public 
Hearing on October 4, 2023 at 11:00 o'clock a.m. local time in the Virgil Town Hall 
located at 1176 Church Street in the Town of Virgil, Cortland County, (C) prepared a 
report of the Public Hearing which fairly summarized the views presented at said public 
hearing and distributed same to the members of the Agency; and  



{H5284363.1} 3 
 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 8 of the Environmental Conservation Law, 

Chapter 43-B of the Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended (the "SEQR Act"), 
and the regulations (the "Regulations") adopted pursuant thereto by the Department of 
Environmental Conservation of the State of New York (collectively with the SEQR Act, 
"SEQRA"), the members of the Agency adopted a resolution on September 11, 2023 
(the "SEQR Resolution") in which the Agency determined that the Project will not have a 
"significant effect on the environment" pursuant to SEQRA and, therefore, that no 
environmental impact statement need be prepared with respect to the Project and that a 
negative declaration would be prepared with respect to the Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, by resolution adopted by the members of the Agency on October 10, 
2023 (the "Final Inducement Resolution"), the Agency determined, following a review of 
the Report, to finalize the preliminary determination made by the Agency in the 
Preliminary Inducement Resolution to proceed with the Project and the granting of the 
Financial Assistance described in the notice of the Public Hearing; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in order to consummate the Project and the granting of the Financial 
Assistance described in the notice of the Public Hearing, the Agency proposes to enter 
into the following documents (hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Agency 
Documents"): (A) a certain lease to Agency (and a memorandum thereof) (the 
"Underlying Lease") by and between the Company, as landlord, and the Agency, as 
tenant pursuant to which the Company will lease to the Agency the Project Facility; (B) 
a Uniform Project and Lease Agreement (and a memorandum thereof) (the "Lease 
Agreement") by and between the Agency and the Company, pursuant to which, among 
other things, the Company agrees to undertake the Project as agent of the Agency and 
the Company further agrees to lease the Project Facility from the Agency and, as rental 
thereunder, to pay the Agency's administrative fee relating to the Project and to pay all 
expenses incurred by the Agency with respect to the Project; (C) a payment in lieu of 
tax agreement (the "Payment in Lieu of Tax Agreement") by and between the Agency 
and the Company, pursuant to which the Company will agree to pay certain payments in 
lieu of taxes with respect to the Project Facility; and (D) various certificates relating to 
the Project (the "Closing Documents"); 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF CORTLAND 
COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1.  The Agency hereby finds and determines that: 
 
  (A) By virtue of the Act, the Agency has been vested with all powers 
necessary and convenient to carry out and effectuate the purposes and provisions of 
the Act and to exercise all powers granted to it under the Act; and 
 
  (B) The Project constitutes a "project," as such term is defined in the 
Act; and 



{H5284363.1} 4 
 

  (C) The acquisition of the Project Facility and the lease of the Project 
Facility to the Company will promote and maintain the job opportunities, general 
prosperity and economic welfare of the citizens of Cortland County, New York and the 
State of New York and improve their standard of living; and 
 
  (D) It is desirable and in the public interest for the Agency to enter into 
the Agency Documents. 
 
 Section 2.  In consequence of the foregoing, the Agency hereby determines to: 
(A) accept the Underlying Lease; (B) proceed with the Project; (C) acquire the Project 
Facility; (D) lease the Project Facility to the Company pursuant to the Lease Agreement; 
(E) enter into the Payment in Lieu of Tax Agreement; and (F) grant the Financial 
Assistance with respect to the Project. 
 
 Section 3.  The Agency is hereby authorized to acquire a leasehold interest in the 
Project Facility pursuant to the Underlying Lease and to do all things necessary or 
appropriate for the accomplishment thereof, and all acts heretofore taken by the Agency 
with respect to such acquisition are hereby approved, ratified and confirmed. 
 
 Section 4.  The Agency is hereby authorized to acquire the Project Facility as 
described in the Lease Agreement and to do all things necessary or appropriate for the 
accomplishment thereof, and all acts heretofore taken by the Agency with respect to 
such acquisition are hereby ratified, confirmed and approved. 
 
 Section 5.  The form and substance of the Agency Documents as approved by 
the Chairman, Vice Chairman or Executive Director are hereby approved. 
 
 Section 6.  (A) The Chairman, Vice Chairman and Executive Director of the 
Agency are each hereby separately authorized, on behalf of the Agency, to execute and 
deliver the Agency Documents and, where appropriate, the Secretary (or Assistant 
Secretary) of the Agency is hereby authorized to affix the seal of the Agency thereto 
and to attest the same, with such changes, variations, omissions and insertions thereto 
as the Chairman or Vice Chairman or Executive Director shall approve, the execution 
thereof by the Chairman or Vice Chairman or Executive Director to constitute conclusive 
evidence of such approval. 
 
   (B) The Chairman, Vice Chairman or Executive of the Agency is 
each hereby further authorized, on behalf of the Agency, to designate any additional 
Authorized Representatives of the Agency (as defined in and pursuant to the Lease 
Agreement). 
 
 Section 7.  The officers, employees and agents of the Agency are hereby 
authorized and directed for and in the name and on behalf of the Agency to do all acts 
and things required or provided for by the provisions of the Agency Documents, and to 
execute and deliver all such additional certificates, instruments and documents, to pay 
all such fees, charges and expenses and to do all such further acts and things as may 



{H5284363.1} 5 
 

be necessary or, in the opinion of the officer, employee or agent acting, desirable and 
proper to effect the purposes of the foregoing Resolution and to cause compliance by 
the Agency with all of the terms, covenants and provisions of the Agency Documents 
binding upon the Agency. 
 

Section 8.  Pursuant to Section 875(3) of the Act, the Agency shall recover, 
recapture, receive, or otherwise obtain from the Company that portion of the Financial 
Assistance which constitutes state sales and use tax exemptions taken or purported to 
be taken by the Company to which the Company is not entitled or which are in excess 
of the amount authorized by the Agency or which are for property or services not 
authorized by the Agency as part of the Project or were taken by the Company when 
the Company failed to comply with a material term or condition to use property or 
services in the manner required by the Agency.  The Company shall cooperate with the 
Agency in its efforts to recover, recapture, receive, or otherwise obtain such state sales 
and use tax exemptions and shall promptly pay over any such amounts to the Agency.  
The failure to pay over such amounts to the Agency shall be grounds for the New York 
State Commissioner of Taxation and Finance to assess and determine state sales and 
use taxes due from the Company under Article 28 of the Tax Law of the State of New 
York, together with any relevant penalties and interest due on such amounts. 

 
Section 9.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately. 

 
 The question of the adoption of the foregoing Resolution was duly put to a vote 
on roll call, which resulted as follows: 

 
Michael McMahon   VOTING ______________ 
Stephen Compagni   VOTING ______________ 
Clinton Brooks   VOTING ______________ 
John O. Reagan   VOTING ______________ 
Johanna Ames   VOTING ______________ 
Kathleen Burke   VOTING ______________ 
Donald Richards   VOTING ______________ 
 
 

The foregoing Resolution was thereupon declared duly adopted. 
 
STATE OF NEW YORK ) 
COUNTY OF CORTLAND )  ss.: 
 
 I, the undersigned Secretary of Cortland County Industrial Development Agency 
(the "Agency"), DO HEREBY CERTIFY, that I have compared the foregoing extract of 
the minutes of the meeting of the members of the Agency, including the Resolution 
contained therein, held on October 10, 2023 with the original thereof on file in my office, 
and that the same is a true and correct copy of such proceedings of the Agency and of 
such Resolution set forth therein and of the whole of said original so far as the same 
related to the subject matters therein referred to. 
 



{H5284363.1} 6 
 

 I FURTHER CERTIFY that (A) all members of the Agency had due notice of said 
meeting; (B) said meeting was in all respect duly held; (C) pursuant to Article 7 of the 
Public Officers Law (the "Open Meetings Law"), said meeting was open to the general 
public and due notice of the time and place of said meeting was given in accordance 
with such Open Meetings Law; and (D) there was a quorum of the members of the 
Agency present through said meeting. 
 
 I FURTHER CERTIFY that, as of the date hereof, the attached Resolution is in 
full force and effect and has not been amended, repealed or rescinded. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of 
the Agency this 10th day of October, 2023. 
 
 
        __________________________ 
        Clinton Brooks, Secretary 
 



 
 

 
 

iSpice Foods  Cortland  

Project Summary, Rationale 

and Application,  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 













































































 
 

 
 

SEQR 

Determination/Recommendation – 

iSpice Foods  Cortland   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







C.3. Zoning

a. Is the site of the proposed action located in a municipality with an adopted zoning law or ordinance. 1i21Yes0No 
If Yes, what is the zoning classification(s) including any applicable overlay district?

GI {General Industrial} 

b. Is the use permitted or allowed by a special or conditional use permit? 1i21Yes0No 

c. Is a zoning change requested as part of the proposed action? 0Yes1i21No 
If Yes,
i. What is the proposed new zoning for the site?

C.4. Existing community services.

a. In what school district is the project site located? Cortland Ci� School District 

b. What police or other public protection forces serve the project site?

Cortland CountJl Sheriff's Offi!;,e, Ci� PQli!.!i!, Sts!te PQliC!;! 

c. Which fire protection and emergency medical services serve the project site?
Cortland Fire Deot. 

d. What parks serve the project site?

Not aoolicable

D. Project Details

D.1. Proposed and Potential Development

a. What is the general nature of the proposed action ( e.g., residential, industrial, commercial, recreational; if mixed, include all
components)? Industrial

b. a. Total acreage of the site of the proposed action?
b. Total acreage to be physically disturbed?
c. Total acreage (project site and any contiguous properties) owned

or controlled by the applicant or project sponsor?

c. Is the proposed action an expansion of an existing project or use?

21.78 acres 
acres 

acres 

D Yes1i21No 
i. If Yes, what is the approximate percentage of the proposed expansion and identify the units (e.g., acres, miles, housing units,

square feet)? % Units:

d. Is the proposed action a subdivision, or does it include a subdivision? 0Yes1i21No 
If Yes,

i. Purpose or type of subdivision? ( e.g., residential, industrial, commercial; if mixed, specify types)

ii. Is a cluster/conservation layout proposed? 0Yes1i21No 
iii. Number of lots proposed?
iv. Minimum and maximum proposed lot sizes? Minimum Maximum 

e. Will the proposed action be constructed in multiple phases? 0 Yes1i21No 
i. If No, anticipated period of construction: 24 months --

ii. If Yes:
• Total number of phases anticipated

--

• Anticipated commencement date of phase 1 (including demolition) month __ year 
--

• Anticipated completion date of final phase __ month __year 
• Generally describe connections or relationships among phases, including any contingencies where progress of one phase may

determine timing or duration of future phases:

Page 3 of 13 























Page 1 of 10 

Full Environmental Assessment Form 
Part 2 - Identification of Potential Project Impacts 

Part 2 is to be completed by the lead agency.  Part 2 is designed to help the lead agency inventory all potential resources that could 
be affected by a proposed project or action.  We recognize that the lead agency=s reviewer(s) will not necessarily be environmental 
professionals.  So, the questions are designed to walk a reviewer through the assessment process by providing a series of questions that 
can be answered using the information found in Part 1.  To further assist the lead agency in completing Part 2, the form identifies the 
most relevant questions in Part 1 that will provide the information needed to answer the Part 2 question.  When Part 2 is completed, the 
lead agency will have identified the relevant environmental areas that may be impacted by the proposed activity.   

If the lead agency is a state agency and the action is in any Coastal Area, complete the Coastal Assessment Form before proceeding 
with this assessment. 
Tips for completing Part 2: 

• Review all of the information provided in Part 1.
• Review any application, maps, supporting materials and the Full EAF Workbook.
• Answer each of the 18 questions in Part 2.
• If you answer “Yes” to a numbered question, please complete all the questions that follow in that section.
• If you answer “No” to a numbered question, move on to the next numbered question.
• Check appropriate column to indicate the anticipated size of the impact.
• Proposed projects that would exceed a numeric threshold contained in a question should result in the reviewing agency

checking the box “Moderate to large impact may occur.”
• The reviewer is not expected to be an expert in environmental analysis.
• If you are not sure or undecided about the size of an impact, it may help to review the sub-questions for the general

question and consult the workbook.
• When answering a question consider all components of the proposed activity, that is, the Awhole action@.
• Consider the possibility for long-term and cumulative impacts as well as direct impacts.
• Answer the question in a reasonable manner considering the scale and context of the project.

1. Impact on Land
Proposed action may involve construction on, or physical alteration of,  NO  YES 
the land surface of the proposed site.  (See Part 1. D.1)
If “Yes”, answer questions a - j.  If “No”, move on to Section 2.

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action may involve construction on land where depth to water table is
less than 3 feet.

E2d 9 9

b. The proposed action may involve construction on slopes of 15% or greater. E2f 9 9

c. The proposed action may involve construction on land where bedrock is exposed, or
generally within 5 feet of existing ground surface.

E2a 9 9

d. The proposed action may involve the excavation and removal of more than 1,000 tons
of natural material.

D2a 9 9

e. The proposed action may involve construction that continues for more than one year
or in multiple phases.

D1e 9 9

f. The proposed action may result in increased erosion, whether from physical
disturbance or vegetation removal (including from treatment by herbicides).

D2e, D2q 9 9

g. The proposed action is, or may be, located within a Coastal Erosion hazard area. B1i 9 9

h. Other impacts: _______________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________ 

9 9

Agency Use Only [If applicable]
Project :

Date :

FEAF 2019

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91690.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91690.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91704.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91709.html


Page 2 of 10 

2. Impact on Geological Features
The proposed action may result in the modification or destruction of, or inhibit 
access to, any unique or unusual land forms on the site (e.g., cliffs, dunes,   NO  YES 
minerals, fossils, caves).  (See Part 1. E.2.g) 
If “Yes”, answer questions a - c.  If “No”, move on to Section 3. 

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. Identify the specific land form(s) attached: ________________________________
___________________________________________________________________

E2g 9 9

b. The proposed action may affect or is adjacent to a geological feature listed as a
registered National Natural Landmark.
Specific feature: _____________________________________________________  

E3c 9 9

c. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________ 

9 9

3. Impacts on Surface Water
The proposed action may affect one or more wetlands or other surface water  NO  YES 
 bodies (e.g., streams, rivers, ponds or lakes).  (See Part 1. D.2, E.2.h)  
If “Yes”, answer questions a - l.  If “No”, move on to Section 4. 

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action may create a new water body. D2b, D1h 9 9

b. The proposed action may result in an increase or decrease of over 10% or more than a
10 acre increase or decrease in the surface area of any body of water.

D2b 9 9

c. The proposed action may involve dredging more than 100 cubic yards of material
from a wetland or water body.

D2a 9 9

d. The proposed action may involve construction within or adjoining a freshwater or
tidal wetland, or in the bed or banks of any other water body.

E2h 9 9

e. The proposed action may create turbidity in a waterbody, either from upland erosion,
runoff or by disturbing bottom sediments.

D2a, D2h 9 9

f. The proposed action may include construction of one or more intake(s) for withdrawal
of water from surface water.

D2c 9 9

g. The proposed action may include construction of one or more outfall(s) for discharge
of wastewater to surface water(s).

D2d 9 9

h. The proposed action may cause soil erosion, or otherwise create a source of
stormwater discharge that may lead to siltation or other degradation of receiving
water bodies.

D2e 9 9

i. The proposed action may affect the water quality of any water bodies within or
downstream of the site of the proposed action.

E2h 9 9

j. The proposed action may involve the application of pesticides or herbicides in or
around any water body.

D2q, E2h 9 9

k. The proposed action may require the construction of new, or expansion of existing,
wastewater treatment facilities.

 D1a, D2d 9 9

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91714.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91719.html


Page 3 of 10 

l. Other impacts: _______________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________ 

9 9

4. Impact on groundwater
The proposed action may result in new or additional use of ground water, or   NO  YES 
may have the potential to introduce contaminants to ground water or an aquifer. 
(See Part 1. D.2.a, D.2.c, D.2.d, D.2.p, D.2.q, D.2.t) 
If “Yes”, answer questions a - h.  If “No”, move on to Section 5.  

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action may require new water supply wells, or create additional demand
on supplies from existing water supply wells.

D2c 9 9

b. Water supply demand from the proposed action may exceed safe and sustainable
withdrawal capacity rate of the local supply or aquifer.
Cite Source: ________________________________________________________

D2c 9 9

c. The proposed action may allow or result in residential uses in areas without water and
sewer services.

D1a, D2c 9 9

d. The proposed action may include or require wastewater discharged to groundwater. D2d, E2l 9 9

e. The proposed action may result in the construction of water supply wells in locations
where groundwater is, or is suspected to be, contaminated.

D2c, E1f, 
E1g, E1h 

9 9

f. The proposed action may require the bulk storage of petroleum or chemical products
over ground water or an aquifer.

D2p, E2l 9 9

g. The proposed action may involve the commercial application of pesticides within 100
feet of potable drinking water or irrigation sources.

E2h, D2q, 
E2l, D2c 

9 9

h. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________

9 9

5. Impact on Flooding
The proposed action may result in development on lands subject to flooding.  NO  YES 
(See Part 1. E.2)
If “Yes”, answer questions a - g.  If “No”, move on to Section 6.

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action may result in development in a designated floodway. E2i 9 9

b. The proposed action may result in development within a 100 year floodplain. E2j 9 9

c. The proposed action may result in development within a 500 year floodplain. E2k 9 9

d. The proposed action may result in, or require, modification of existing drainage
patterns.

D2b, D2e 9 9

e. The proposed action may change flood water flows that contribute to flooding. D2b, E2i, 
E2j, E2k 

9 9

f. If there is a dam located on the site of the proposed action, is the dam in need of repair,
or upgrade?

E1e 9 9

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91724.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91729.html


Page 4 of 10 

g. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________ 

9 9

6. Impacts on Air
 NO  YES The proposed action may include a state regulated air emission source.   

(See Part 1. D.2.f., D.2.h, D.2.g) 
If “Yes”, answer questions a - f.  If “No”, move on to Section 7. 

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. If  the proposed action requires federal or state air emission permits, the action may
also emit one or more greenhouse gases at or above the following levels:

i. More than 1000 tons/year of carbon dioxide (CO2)
ii. More than 3.5 tons/year of nitrous oxide (N2O)
iii. More than 1000 tons/year of carbon equivalent of perfluorocarbons (PFCs)
iv. More than .045 tons/year of sulfur hexafluoride (SF6)
v. More than 1000 tons/year of carbon dioxide equivalent of

hydrochloroflourocarbons (HFCs) emissions
vi. 43 tons/year or more of methane

D2g 
D2g 
D2g 
D2g 
D2g 

D2h 

9
9
9
9
9

9

9
9
9
9
9

9

b. The proposed action may generate 10 tons/year or more of any one designated
hazardous air pollutant, or 25 tons/year or more of any combination of such hazardous
air pollutants.

D2g 9 9

c. The proposed action may require a state air registration, or may produce an emissions
rate of total contaminants that may exceed 5 lbs. per hour, or may include a heat
source capable of producing more than 10 million BTU=s per hour.

D2f, D2g 9 9

d. The proposed action may reach 50% of any of the thresholds in “a” through “c”,
above.

D2g 9 9

e. The proposed action may result in the combustion or thermal treatment of more than 1
ton of refuse per hour.

D2s 9 9

f. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________ 

9 9

7. Impact on Plants and Animals
The proposed action may result in a loss of flora or fauna.  (See Part 1. E.2. m.-q.)  NO  YES 

  If “Yes”, answer questions a - j.  If “No”, move on to Section 8. 
Relevant 

Part I 
Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action may cause reduction in population or loss of individuals of any
threatened or endangered species, as listed by New York State or the Federal
government, that use the site, or are found on, over, or near the site.

E2o 9 9

b. The proposed action may result in a reduction or degradation of any habitat used by
any rare, threatened or endangered species, as listed by New York State or the federal
government.

E2o 9 9

c. The proposed action may cause reduction in population, or loss of individuals, of any
species of special concern or conservation need, as listed by New York State or the
Federal government, that use the site, or are found on, over, or near the site.

E2p 9 9

d. The proposed action may result in a reduction or degradation of any habitat used by
any species of special concern and conservation need, as listed by New York State or
the Federal government.

E2p 9 9

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91734.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91739.html


Page 5 of 10 

e. The proposed action may diminish the capacity of a registered National Natural
Landmark to support the biological community it was established to protect.

E3c 9 9

f. The proposed action may result in the removal of, or ground disturbance in, any
portion of a designated significant natural community.
Source: ____________________________________________________________

E2n 9 9

g. The proposed action may substantially interfere with nesting/breeding, foraging, or
over-wintering habitat for the predominant species that occupy or use the project site. E2m 9 9

h. The proposed action requires the conversion of more than 10 acres of forest,
grassland or any other regionally or locally important habitat.
Habitat type & information source: ______________________________________
__________________________________________________________________

E1b 9 9

i. Proposed action (commercial, industrial or recreational projects, only) involves use of
herbicides or pesticides.

D2q 9 9

j. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________ 

9 9

8. Impact on Agricultural Resources
The proposed action may impact agricultural resources.  (See Part 1. E.3.a. and b.)  NO  YES 
If “Yes”, answer questions a - h.  If “No”, move on to Section 9. 

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action may impact soil classified within soil group 1 through 4 of the
NYS Land Classification System.

E2c, E3b 9 9

b. The proposed action may sever, cross or otherwise limit access to agricultural land
(includes cropland, hayfields, pasture, vineyard, orchard, etc).

E1a, Elb 9 9

c. The proposed action may result in the excavation or compaction of the soil profile of
active agricultural land.

E3b 9 9

d. The proposed action may irreversibly convert agricultural land to non-agricultural
uses, either more than 2.5 acres if located in an Agricultural District, or more than 10
acres if not within an Agricultural District.

E1b, E3a 9 9

e. The proposed action may disrupt or prevent installation of an agricultural land
management system.

El a, E1b 9 9

f. The proposed action may result, directly or indirectly, in increased development
potential or pressure on farmland.

C2c, C3, 
D2c, D2d 

9 9

g. The proposed project is not consistent with the adopted municipal Farmland
Protection Plan.

C2c 9 9

h. Other impacts: ________________________________________________________ 9 9

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91745.html


Page 6 of 10 

9. Impact on Aesthetic Resources
The land use of the proposed action are obviously different from, or are in  NO  YES 
sharp contrast to, current land use patterns between the proposed project and
a scenic or aesthetic resource.  (Part 1. E.1.a, E.1.b, E.3.h.)

  If “Yes”, answer questions a - g.  If “No”, go to Section 10. 
Relevant 

Part I 
Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. Proposed action may be visible from any officially designated federal, state, or local
scenic or aesthetic resource.

E3h 9 9

b. The proposed action may result in the obstruction, elimination or significant
screening of one or more officially designated scenic views.

E3h, C2b 9 9

c. The proposed action may be visible from publicly accessible vantage points:
i. Seasonally (e.g., screened by summer foliage, but visible during other seasons)
ii. Year round

E3h 
9
9

9
9

d. The situation or activity in which viewers are engaged while viewing the proposed
action is:
i. Routine travel by residents, including travel to and from work
ii. Recreational or tourism based activities

E3h 

E2q,  

E1c 9
9

9
9

e. The proposed action may cause a diminishment of the public enjoyment and
appreciation of the designated aesthetic resource.

 E3h 9 9

f. There are similar projects visible within the following distance of the proposed
project:

0-1/2 mile
½ -3  mile
3-5   mile
5+    mile

D1a, E1a, 
D1f, D1g 

9 9

g. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________ 

9 9

10. Impact on Historic and Archeological Resources
The proposed action may occur in or adjacent to a historic or archaeological  NO  YES 
resource.  (Part 1. E.3.e, f. and g.)

If “Yes”, answer questions a - e.  If “No”, go to Section 11.
Relevant 

Part I 
Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

E3e 9 9

b. The proposed action may occur wholly or partially within, or substantially contiguous
to, an area designated as sensitive for archaeological sites on the NY State Historic
Preservation Office (SHPO) archaeological site inventory.

E3f 9 9

c. The proposed action may occur wholly or partially within, or substantially contiguous
to, an archaeological site not included on the NY SHPO inventory.
Source: ____________________________________________________________

E3g 9 9

a. The proposed action may occur wholly or partially within, or substantially contiguous 
to, any buildings, archaeological site or district which is listed on the National or 
State Register of Historical Places, or that has been determined by the Commissioner 
of the NYS Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation to be eligible for 
listing on the State Register of Historic Places.  

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91750.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91760.html


Page 7 of 10 

d. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________ 

9 9

e.
If any of the above (a-d) are answered “Moderate to large impact may 
occur”, continue with the following questions to help support conclusions in Part 3:

i. The proposed action may result in the destruction or alteration of all or part
of the site or property.

ii. The proposed action may result in the alteration of the property’s setting or
integrity.

iii. The proposed action may result in the introduction of visual elements which
are out of character with the site or property, or may alter its setting.

E3e, E3g, 
E3f 

E3e, E3f, 
E3g, E1a, 
E1b 
E3e, E3f, 
E3g, E3h, 
C2, C3 

9

9

9

9

9

9

11. Impact on Open Space and Recreation
The proposed action may result in a loss of recreational opportunities or a  NO  YES 
reduction of an open space resource as designated in any  adopted
municipal open space plan.
(See Part 1. C.2.c, E.1.c., E.2.q.)
If “Yes”, answer questions a - e.  If “No”, go to Section 12. 

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action may result in an impairment of natural functions, or “ecosystem
services”, provided by an undeveloped area, including but not limited to stormwater
storage, nutrient cycling, wildlife habitat.

D2e, E1b 
E2h,  
E2m, E2o, 
E2n, E2p 

9 9

b. The proposed action may result in the loss of a current or future recreational resource. C2a, E1c, 
C2c, E2q 

9 9

c. The proposed action may eliminate open space or recreational resource in an area
with few such resources.

C2a, C2c 
E1c, E2q 

9 9

d. The proposed action may result in loss of an area now used informally by the
community as an open space resource.

C2c, E1c 9 9

e. Other impacts: _____________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________

9 9

12. Impact on Critical Environmental Areas
The proposed action may be located within or adjacent to a critical  NO  YES 
environmental area (CEA).  (See Part 1. E.3.d)
If “Yes”, answer questions a - c.  If “No”, go to Section 13. 

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action may result in a reduction in the quantity of the resource or
characteristic which was the basis for designation of the CEA.

E3d 9 9

b. The proposed action may result in a reduction in the quality of the resource or
characteristic which was the basis for designation of the CEA.

E3d 9 9

c. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________ 

9 9

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91765.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91771.html


Page 8 of 10 

13. Impact on Transportation
The proposed action may result in a change to existing transportation systems.  NO  YES 
(See Part 1. D.2.j)
If “Yes”, answer questions a - f.  If “No”, go to Section 14. 

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. Projected traffic increase may exceed capacity of existing road network. D2j 9 9

b. The proposed action may result in the construction of paved parking area for 500 or
more vehicles.

D2j 9 9

c. The proposed action will degrade existing transit access. D2j 9 9

d. The proposed action will degrade existing pedestrian or bicycle accommodations. D2j 9 9

e. The proposed action may alter the present pattern of movement of people or goods. D2j 9 9

f. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________ 

9 9

14. Impact on Energy
The proposed action may cause an increase in the use of any form of energy.  NO  YES 
(See Part 1. D.2.k)
If “Yes”, answer questions a - e.  If “No”, go to Section 15. 

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action will require a new, or an upgrade to an existing, substation. D2k 9 9

b. The proposed action will require the creation or extension of an energy transmission
or supply system to serve more than 50 single or two-family residences or to serve a
commercial or industrial use.

D1f, 
D1q, D2k 

9 9

c. The proposed action may utilize more than 2,500 MWhrs per year of electricity. D2k 9 9

d. The proposed action may involve heating and/or cooling of more than 100,000 square
feet of building area when completed.

D1g 9 9

e. Other Impacts: ________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________

15. Impact on Noise, Odor, and Light
The proposed action may result in an increase in noise, odors, or outdoor lighting.  NO  YES 
(See Part 1. D.2.m., n., and o.)
If “Yes”, answer questions a - f.  If “No”, go to Section 16. 

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action may produce sound above noise levels established by local
regulation.

D2m 9 9

b. The proposed action may result in blasting within 1,500 feet of any residence,
hospital, school, licensed day care center, or nursing home.

D2m, E1d 9 9

c. The proposed action may result in routine odors for more than one hour per day. D2o 9 9

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91776.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91781.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91786.html


Page 9 of 10 

d. The proposed action may result in light shining onto adjoining properties. D2n 9 9

e. The proposed action may result in lighting creating sky-glow brighter than existing
area conditions.

D2n, E1a 9 9

f. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________ 

9 9

16. Impact on Human Health
The proposed action may have an impact on human health from exposure  NO  YES 
to new or existing sources of contaminants.  (See Part 1.D.2.q., E.1. d. f. g. and h.)
If “Yes”, answer questions a - m.  If “No”, go to Section 17. 

Relevant  
Part I 

Question(s) 

No,or 
small 

impact 
may cccur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action is located within 1500 feet of a school, hospital, licensed day
care center, group home, nursing home or retirement community.

E1d 9 9

b. The site of the proposed action is currently undergoing remediation. E1g, E1h 9 9

c. There is a completed emergency spill remediation, or a completed environmental site
remediation on, or adjacent to, the site of the proposed action.

E1g, E1h 9 9

d. The site of  the action is subject to an institutional control limiting the use of the 
property (e.g., easement or deed restriction).

E1g, E1h 9 9

e. The proposed action may affect institutional control measures that were put in place
to ensure that the site remains protective of the environment and human health.

E1g, E1h 9 9

f. The proposed action has adequate control measures in place to ensure that future
generation, treatment and/or disposal of hazardous wastes will be protective of the
environment and human health.

D2t 9 9

g. The proposed action involves construction or modification of a solid waste
management facility.

D2q, E1f 9 9

h. The proposed action may result in the unearthing of solid or hazardous waste. D2q, E1f 9 9

i. The proposed action may result in an increase in the rate of disposal, or processing, of
solid waste. 

D2r, D2s 9 9

j. The proposed action may result in excavation or other disturbance within 2000 feet of
a site used for the disposal of solid or hazardous waste. 

E1f, E1g 
E1h 

9 9

k. The proposed action may result in the migration of explosive gases from a landfill
site to adjacent off site structures.

E1f, E1g 9 9

l. The proposed action may result in the release of contaminated leachate from the
project site. 

D2s, E1f, 
D2r 

9 9

m. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________ 

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91791.html


Page 10 of 10 
 

 
 
 
17. Consistency with Community Plans 
 The proposed action is not consistent with adopted land use plans.    NO   YES 
 (See Part 1. C.1, C.2. and C.3.)   
 If “Yes”, answer questions a - h.  If “No”, go to Section 18. 

 Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action’s land use components may be different from, or in sharp 
contrast to, current surrounding land use pattern(s).  

C2, C3, D1a 
E1a, E1b 

9 9 

b. The proposed action will cause the permanent population of the city, town or village 
in which the project is located to grow by more than 5%.  

C2 9 9 

c. The proposed action is inconsistent with local land use plans or zoning regulations. C2, C2, C3 9 9 

d. The proposed action is inconsistent with any County plans, or other regional land use 
plans. 

C2, C2 9 9 

e. The proposed action may cause a change in the density of development that is not 
supported by existing infrastructure or is distant from existing infrastructure. 

C3, D1c, 
D1d, D1f, 
D1d, Elb 

9 9 

f. The proposed action is located in an area characterized by low density development 
that will require new or expanded public infrastructure. 

C4, D2c, D2d 
D2j 

9 9 

g. The proposed action may induce secondary development impacts (e.g., residential or 
commercial development not included in the proposed action) 

C2a 9 9 

h. Other: _____________________________________________________________ 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 9 9 

 
18. Consistency with Community Character 
  The proposed project is inconsistent with the existing community character.   NO   YES 
  (See Part 1. C.2, C.3, D.2, E.3) 
 If “Yes”, answer questions a - g.  If “No”, proceed to Part 3. 

 Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action may replace or eliminate existing facilities, structures, or areas 
of historic importance to the community. 

E3e, E3f, E3g 9 9 

b. The proposed action may create a demand for additional community services (e.g. 
schools, police and fire)  

C4 9 9 

c. The proposed action may displace affordable or low-income housing in an area where 
there is a shortage of such housing. 

C2, C3, D1f 
D1g, E1a 

9 9 

d. The proposed action may interfere with the use or enjoyment of officially recognized 
or designated public resources. 

C2, E3 9 9 

e. The proposed action is inconsistent with the predominant architectural scale and 
character. 

C2, C3 9 9 

f. Proposed action is inconsistent with the character of the existing natural landscape.  C2, C3 
E1a, E1b 
E2g, E2h 

9 9 

g. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________ 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 9 9 

  

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91799.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91813.html


Full Environmental Assessment Form 
Part 3 - Evaluation of the Magnitude and Importance of Project Impacts 

and  
Determination of Significance 

Part 3 provides the reasons in support of the determination of significance.  The lead agency must complete Part 3 for every question 
in Part 2 where the impact has been identified as potentially moderate to large or where there is a need to explain why a particular 
element of the proposed action will not, or may, result in a significant adverse environmental impact. 

Based on the analysis in Part 3, the lead agency must decide whether to require an environmental impact statement to further assess 
the proposed action or whether available information is sufficient for the lead agency to conclude that the proposed action will not 
have a significant adverse environmental impact.  By completing the certification on the next page, the lead agency can complete its 
determination of significance. 

Reasons Supporting This Determination: 
To complete this section: 

• Identify the impact based on the Part 2 responses and describe its magnitude.  Magnitude considers factors such as severity,
size or extent of an impact.

• Assess the importance of the impact.  Importance relates to the geographic scope, duration, probability of the impact
occurring, number of people affected by the impact and any additional environmental consequences if the impact were to
occur.

• The assessment should take into consideration any design element or project changes.
• Repeat this process for each Part 2 question where the impact has been identified as potentially moderate to large or where

there is a need to explain why a particular element of the proposed action will not, or may, result in a significant adverse
environmental impact.

• Provide the reason(s) why the impact may, or will not, result in a significant adverse environmental impact
• For Conditional Negative Declarations identify the specific condition(s) imposed that will modify the proposed action so that

no significant adverse environmental impacts will result.
• Attach additional sheets, as needed.

Determination of Significance - Type 1 and Unlisted Actions 

SEQR Status:    Type 1   Unlisted 

Identify portions of EAF completed for this Project:   Part 1   Part 2   Part 3 

Agency Use Only  [IfApplicable] 
Project :

Date :

FEAF 2019

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91818.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91818.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91818.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91824.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91829.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91829.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91836.html


Upon review of the information recorded on this EAF, as noted, plus this additional support information 

and considering both the magnitude and importance of each identified potential impact, it is the conclusion of the 
 as lead agency that: 

  A. This project will result in no significant adverse impacts on the environment, and, therefore, an environmental impact 
statement need not be prepared.  Accordingly, this negative declaration is issued. 

 B. Although this project could have a significant adverse impact on the environment, that impact will be avoided or 
substantially mitigated because of the following conditions which will be required by the lead agency: 

There will, therefore, be no significant adverse impacts from the project as conditioned, and, therefore, this conditioned negative 
declaration is issued.  A conditioned negative declaration may be used only for UNLISTED actions (see 6 NYCRR 617.7(d)). 

 C. This Project may result in one or more significant adverse impacts on the environment, and an environmental impact 
statement must be prepared to further assess the impact(s) and possible mitigation and to explore alternatives to avoid or reduce those 
impacts.  Accordingly, this positive declaration is issued. 

Name of Action: 

Name of Lead Agency: 

Name of Responsible Officer in Lead Agency: 

Title of Responsible Officer: 

Signature of Responsible Officer in Lead Agency: Date: 

Signature of Preparer (if different from Responsible Officer) Date: 

For Further Information: 

Contact Person: 

Address: 

Telephone Number: 

E-mail:

For Type 1 Actions and Conditioned Negative Declarations, a copy of this Notice is sent to: 

Chief Executive Officer of the political subdivision in which the action will be principally located (e.g., Town / City / Village of) 
Other involved agencies (if any) 
Applicant (if any) 
Environmental Notice Bulletin:  http://www.dec.ny.gov/enb/enb.html  

Page 2 of 2

http://www.dec.ny.gov/enb/enb.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91841.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/regs/4490.html#18098


 
 

 
 

 
 

 

I-spice-SEQR Resolution  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



{H5282763.1} 1 
 

A regular meeting of Cortland County Industrial Development Agency was 
convened in public session at the offices of the Agency located at 40 Main Street, Suite 
A, in the City of Cortland, Cortland County, New York on October 10, 2023 at 12:00 o'clock 
p.m., local time. 
 

The meeting was called to order by the Chairman and, upon roll being called, the 
following members of the Agency were: 
 
 PRESENT: 
 
 Michael McMahon   Chairman 
 Stephen Compagni   Vice Chairman 
 Clinton Brooks   Secretary 
 John O. Reagan   Treasurer 
 Johanna Ames   Member 
 Kathleen Burke   Member 

Donald Richards   Member 
 
 ABSENT: 
 
FOLLOWING PERSONS WERE ALSO PRESENT: 
 
 Brendan O’Bryan   Executive Director  
 Karen Niday    Chief Financial Officer 
 Eric J. Mulvihill   Community Relations Specialist 
 John P. Sidd, Esq.   Agency Counsel 
 
 The following resolution was offered by _________________, seconded by 
_____________, to wit: 
 

Resolution No. ______________ 
 

RESOLUTION DETERMINING THAT AN ACTION TO 
UNDERTAKE AN INDUSTRIAL PROJECT FOR iSPICE, LLC 
WILL NOT HAVE A SIGNIFICANT ADVERSE 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT. 

 
 WHEREAS, Cortland County Industrial Development Agency ("Agency") is 
authorized and empowered by the provisions of Chapter 1030 of the 1969 Laws of New 
York, constituting Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law, Chapter 24 of the 
Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended ("Enabling Act") and Chapter 77 of the 
1974 Laws of New York, as amended, constituting Section 902 of said General Municipal 
Law (said Chapter and the Enabling Act being hereinafter collectively referred to as the 
"Act") to promote, develop, encourage and assist in the acquiring, constructing, 
reconstructing, improving, maintaining, equipping and furnishing of commercial facilities, 
among others, for the purpose of promoting, attracting and developing economically 



{H5282763.1} 2 
 

sound commerce and industry to advance the job opportunities, health, general prosperity 
and economic welfare of the people of the State of New York, to improve their prosperity 
and standard of living, and to prevent unemployment and economic deterioration; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to accomplish its stated purposes, the Agency is authorized and 
empowered under the Act to acquire, construct, reconstruct and install one or more 
"projects" (as defined in the Act) or to cause said projects to be acquired, constructed, 
reconstructed, and installed, and to convey said projects or to lease said projects with the 
obligation to purchase; and 
 
 WHEREAS, iSpice, LLC ("Company") has presented an application (the 
"Application") to the Agency, a copy of which was presented at this meeting and copies 
of which are on file at the office of the Agency, requesting that the Agency consider 
undertaking a project ("Project") consisting of the following: (A)(1) the acquisition of a 
leasehold interest in approximately 21.78 acres of land ("Land") located on Central 
Avenue, Elm Street, East Court Street and Dio Way in the City of Cortland, Cortland 
County, New York; (2) the renovation of an existing commercial building on the Land 
containing approximately 481,000 square feet of manufacturing, warehouse and office 
space and a 26,000 square foot out building (collectively, “Facility”); (3) the acquisition 
and installation therein and thereon of certain furnishings, fixtures and equipment 
including bottle sorters, augers, bottle filling machine equipment, cappers, labelers, 
conveyors, tray making machines, assemblers, shrink wrappers, palletizers, mixers and 
blenders ("Equipment"), all of the foregoing to constitute a facility used for the storage, 
warehousing, grinding, mixing and packaging of herbs, spices and seasonings to be 
operated by the Company (the Land, the Facility and the Equipment being collectively 
referred to as the "Project Facility"); (B) the granting of certain "financial assistance" 
(within the meaning of Section 854(14) of the Act) with respect to the foregoing, including 
potential exemptions from certain sales taxes, real estate transfer taxes, mortgage 
recording taxes and real property taxes (collectively, the "Financial Assistance"); and (C) 
the lease (with an obligation to purchase) or sale of the Project Facility to the Company 
or such other person as may be designated by the Company agreed upon by the Agency; 
and  
  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 8 of the Environmental Conservation Law, Chapter 
43-B of the Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended ("SEQRA") and the regulations 
adopted pursuant thereto by the Department of Environmental Conservation of the State 
of New York, being 6 NYCRR Part 617, as amended ("SEQRA Regulations"), the Agency 
desires to determine whether the Project may have a significant adverse environmental 
impact therefore requiring the preparation of an environmental impact statement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to aid the Agency in determining whether the Project may have a 
significant adverse impact upon the environment, the Company has completed and 
submitted to the Agency Part 1 of a Full Environmental Assessment Form ("Full EAF") for 
the Project, which was presented to and reviewed by the Agency at this meeting and prior 
to this meeting, a copy of which is on file at the office of the Agency; and 
 



{H5282763.1} 3 
 

 WHEREAS, the Agency has examined the Application, Part 1 of the Full EAF, and 
classified the proposed Project as an “Unlisted Action” subject to SEQR; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency desires to establish itself as “Lead Agency" for purposes 
of the required SEQR review of the Project; and 
 

WHEREAS, coordinated review of an Unlisted Action with other involved agencies 
is not mandated by the SEQRA Regulations; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Agency, having reviewed the proposed action, has completed a 
Full EAF Part 2 for the Project and makes the following findings and determination of 
significance with respect to the Project; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF CORTLAND 
COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1.  Based upon the Agency’s examination of the Application, its review of 
Part 1 of the Full EAF and completion of Part 2 of the Full EAF, its consideration of the 
criteria for determining the significance of the action contained in Section 617.7(c) of the 
SEQRA Regulations, and the Agency’s knowledge of the area surrounding the Project 
Facility and such further investigation of the Project and its environmental effects as the 
Agency has deemed appropriate, has identified the relevant areas of environmental 
inquiry and taken the required “hard look” at such areas.  As a result, the Agency makes 
the following findings with respect to the Project, which together are intended to constitute 
a written elaboration for its determination: 
 
  A. The Project is an "Unlisted Action" as defined in the SEQRA 
Regulations and, therefore, is subject to SEQRA.  Coordinated review and notification of 
other involved agencies is not required for Unlisted Actions and will not be conducted for 
the Project by the Agency.  Other involved agencies must make their own determination 
of significance with respect to SEQRA. 
 
  B. The Project consists of the following: (A)(1) the acquisition of a 
leasehold interest in approximately 21.78 acres of land (the "Land") located on Central 
Avenue, Elm Street, East Court Street and Dio Way in the City of Cortland, Cortland 
County, New York; (2) the renovation of an existing commercial building on the Land 
containing approximately 481,000 square feet of manufacturing, warehouse and office 
space and a 26,000 square foot out building (collectively, the “Facility”); (3) the acquisition 
and installation therein and thereon of certain furnishings, fixtures and equipment 
including bottle sorters, augers, bottle filling machine equipment, cappers, labelers, 
conveyors, tray making machines, assemblers, shrink wrappers, palletizers, mixers and 
blenders (the "Equipment"), all of the foregoing to constitute a facility used for the storage, 
warehousing, grinding, mixing and packaging of herbs, spices and seasonings to be 
operated by the Company (the Land, the Facility and the Equipment being collectively 
referred to as the "Project Facility"); (B) the granting of certain "financial assistance" 
(within the meaning of Section 854(14) of the Act) with respect to the foregoing, including 



{H5282763.1} 4 
 

potential exemptions from certain sales taxes, real estate transfer taxes, mortgage 
recording taxes and real property taxes (collectively, the "Financial Assistance"); and (C) 
the lease (with an obligation to purchase) or sale of the Project Facility to the Company 
or such other person as may be designated by the Company agreed upon by the Agency; 
and 
 
  C. No potentially large adverse impacts upon the environment are 
determined by the Agency to exist, based upon its review of Part 1 of the Full EAF, its 
review and completion of Part 2 of the Full EAF, and its consideration of the criteria for 
determining significance contained in the SEQRA Regulations, and none are known to 
the Agency. 
 
  D. The Project involves only the acquisition, internal renovation, and 
reuse of a large existing industrial manufacturing facility.  The Project is properly zoned 
as of right and therefore does not conflict with the community’s plans or goals, or 
community character.  Reuse of the Project Facility will prevent it from becoming vacant, 
thereby avoiding adverse impacts associated with such vacancy, such as becoming an 
attractive nuisance, creating health and safety impacts, aesthetic impacts, and impact on 
community character associated with long-term vacancy within a mixed use area.        
 
  E. The Facility is served by existing utilities and infrastructure, including 
public sewer and water.  The Project will not differ appreciably from the prior use of the 
Land and building, and therefore will not cause any substantial adverse change in existing 
air quality, water quality, traffic, or noise levels.        
 

F. Because the Project will not result in significant physical changes or 
disturbance to the exterior of this existing building or the Land, the Agency finds that it will 
not cause significant adverse impacts to natural resources including vegetation or fauna, 
habitat, threatened or endangered plant or animal species, or any important historical, 
archeological, architectural, or aesthetic resource.  Impacts on the physical environment 
are determined to be minimal.   
 

G. For all the foregoing reasons, the Agency hereby finds that the 
Project will not cause or create any significant adverse environmental impacts, and it 
hereby issues a negative declaration with respect to the Project.  The preparation of an 
environmental impact statement is not required. 
 

Section 2.  The Executive Director or the Chief Financial Officer of the Agency are 
hereby directed to prepare a negative declaration Notice form with respect to the Project, 
said negative declaration to be substantially in the form and to the effect of the negative 
declaration attached hereto and incorporating this Resolution, and to cause copies of said 
negative declaration Notice and Resolution to be: (A) filed in the main office of the Agency, 
(B) distributed to the Company, and (C) distributed to the chief executive officers of each 
of the "affected tax jurisdictions" (within the meaning of the Act). 
 
 Section 3.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately. 



{H5282763.1} 5 
 

 
 The question of the adoption of the foregoing Resolution was duly put to a vote on 
roll call, which resulted as follows: 
 

Michael McMahon   VOTING ______________ 
 Stephen Compagni   VOTING ______________ 
 Clinton Brooks   VOTING ______________ 
 John O. Reagan   VOTING ______________ 
 Johanna Ames   VOTING ______________ 
 Kathleen Burke   VOTING ______________ 

Donald Richards   VOTING ______________ 
  
  

The foregoing Resolution was thereupon declared and duly adopted. 
 
 
STATE OF NEW YORK ) 
COUNTY OF CORTLAND )  ss.: 
 
 I, the undersigned Secretary of Cortland County Industrial Development Agency 
(the "Agency"), DO HEREBY CERTIFY, that I have compared the foregoing extract of the 
minutes of the meeting of the members of the Agency, including the Resolution contained 
therein, held on October 10, 2023 with the original thereof on file in my office, and that 
the same is a true and correct copy of such proceedings of the Agency and of such 
Resolution set forth therein and of the whole of said original so far as the same related to 
the subject matters therein referred to. 
 
 I FURTHER CERTIFY that (A) all members of the Agency had due notice of said 
meeting; (B) said meeting was in all respect duly held; (C) pursuant to Article 7 of the 
Public Officers Law (the "Open Meetings Law"), said meeting was open to the general 
public and due notice of the time and place of said meeting was given in accordance with 
such Open Meetings Law; and (D) there was a quorum of the members of the Agency 
present through said meeting. 
 
 I FURTHER CERTIFY that, as of the date hereof, the attached Resolution is in full 
force and effect and has not been amended, repealed or rescinded. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of the 
Agency this 10th day of October, 2023. 
 
        __________________________ 
        Clinton Brooks, Secretary 
 



 
 

 
 

Consideration of 

Preliminary Inducement of 

benefits - iSpice Foods  

Cortland  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



{H5267500.1}  

 A regular meeting of Cortland County Industrial Development Agency was 
convened in public session at the offices of the Agency located at 40 Main Street, Suite 
A, in the City of Cortland, Cortland County, New York on October 10, 2023 at 12:00 o'clock 
p.m., local time. 
 
 The meeting was called to order by the Chairman and, upon roll being called, the 
following members of the Agency were: 
 
 PRESENT: 
 

Michael McMahon   Chairman 
 Stephen Compagni   Vice Chairman 
 Clinton Brooks   Secretary 
 John O. Reagan   Treasurer 
 Johanna Ames   Member 
 Kathleen Burke   Member 

Donald Richards   Member 
  
 
 ABSENT: 
 
 
FOLLOWING PERSONS WERE ALSO PRESENT: 
 
 Brendan O’Bryan   Executive Director  
 Karen Niday    Chief Financial Officer 

Eric J. Mulvihill   Community Relations Specialist 
 John P. Sidd, Esq.   Agency Counsel 
 
 
 The following resolution was offered by ________________, seconded by 
______________, to wit: 
 
 

Resolution No. _____________ 
 

RESOLUTION TAKING PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL ACTION 
TOWARD THE ACQUISITION, CONSTRUCTION, 
INSTALLATION AND LEASING OF A CERTAIN 
COMMERCIAL PROJECT FOR iSPICE, LLC. 

 
 
 WHEREAS, Cortland County Industrial Development Agency ("Agency") is 
authorized and empowered by the provisions of Chapter 1030 of the 1969 Laws of New 
York, constituting Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law, Chapter 24 of the 
Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended ("Enabling Act") and Chapter 77 of the 



{H5267500.1} 2 
 

1974 Laws of New York, as amended, constituting Section 902 of said General Municipal 
Law (said Chapter and the Enabling Act being hereinafter collectively referred to as the 
"Act") to promote, develop, encourage and assist in the acquiring, constructing, 
reconstructing, improving, maintaining, equipping and furnishing of commercial facilities, 
among others, for the purpose of promoting, attracting and developing economically 
sound commerce and industry to advance the job opportunities, health, general prosperity 
and economic welfare of the people of the State of New York, to improve their prosperity 
and standard of living, and to prevent unemployment and economic deterioration; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to accomplish its stated purposes, the Agency is authorized and 
empowered under the Act to acquire, construct, reconstruct and install one or more 
"projects" (as defined in the Act) or to cause said projects to be acquired, constructed, 
reconstructed and installed, and to convey said projects or to lease said projects with the 
obligation to purchase; and 
 
 WHEREAS, iSpice, LLC ("Company") has presented an application (the 
"Application") to the Agency, a copy of which was presented at this meeting and copies 
of which are on file at the office of the Agency, requesting that the Agency consider 
undertaking a project ("Project") consisting of the following: (A)(1) the acquisition of a 
leasehold interest in approximately 21.78 acres of land ("Land") located on Central 
Avenue, Elm Street, East Court Street and Dio Way in the City of Cortland, Cortland 
County, New York; (2) the renovation of an existing commercial building on the Land 
containing approximately 481,000 square feet of manufacturing, warehouse and office 
space and a 26,000 square foot out building (collectively, “Facility”); (3) the acquisition 
and installation therein and thereon of certain furnishings, fixtures and equipment 
including bottle sorters, augers, bottle filling machine equipment, cappers, labelers, 
conveyors, tray making machines, assemblers, shrink wrappers, palletizers, mixers and 
blenders ("Equipment"), all of the foregoing to constitute a facility used for the storage, 
warehousing, grinding, mixing and packaging of herbs, spices and seasonings to be 
operated by the Company (the Land, the Facility and the Equipment being collectively 
referred to as the "Project Facility"); (B) the granting of certain "financial assistance" 
(within the meaning of Section 854(14) of the Act) with respect to the foregoing, including 
potential exemptions from certain sales taxes, real estate transfer taxes, mortgage 
recording taxes and real property taxes (collectively, "Financial Assistance"); and (C) the 
lease (with an obligation to purchase) or sale of the Project Facility to the Company or 
such other person as may be designated by the Company agreed upon by the Agency; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency has given due consideration to the Application and to 
representations by the Company that (A) the granting by the Agency of the Financial 
Assistance with respect to the Project will be an inducement to the Company to undertake 
the Project in Cortland County, New York, and (B) the completion of the Project Facility 
will not result in the removal of an industrial or manufacturing plant of the Company or 
any other proposed occupant of the Project Facility from one area of the State of New 
York to another area of the State of New York or in the abandonment of a plant or facility 



{H5267500.1} 3 
 

of the Company or any other proposed occupant of the Project Facility located in the State 
of New York; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency desires to encourage the Company to preserve and 
advance the job opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the 
people of Cortland County, New York by undertaking the Project in Cortland County, New 
York; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 8 of the Environmental Conservation Law, Chapter 
43-B of the Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended ("SEQR Act"), and the 
regulations ("Regulations") adopted pursuant thereto by the Department of Environmental 
Conservation of the State of New York (collectively with the SEQR Act, "SEQRA"), by 
resolution adopted by the members of the Agency on October 10, 2023 ("SEQR 
Resolution"), the Agency has determined that the Project will not have a significant effect 
on the environment and, therefore, that an environmental impact statement is not required 
to be prepared with respect to the Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the Act, any approval of the Project contained herein is 
contingent upon a determination by the members of the Agency to proceed with the 
Project following satisfaction of the public hearing and notice requirements and other 
procedural requirements contained in Section 859-a of the Act that relate to the Project; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF CORTLAND 
COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1.  The Agency has reviewed the Application and based upon the 
representations made by the Company to the Agency in the Application and at this 
meeting and, based thereon, the Agency hereby makes the following findings and 
determinations with respect to the Project: 
 
  (A) The Project constitutes a "project" within the meaning of the Act; and 
 
  (B) The completion of the Project Facility will not result in the removal of 

an industrial or manufacturing plant of the Company or any other proposed 
occupant of the Project Facility from one area of the State of New York to another 
area of the State of New York and the completion of the Project Facility will not 
result in the abandonment of a plant or facility of a proposed occupant of the 
Project Facility located in the State of New York; and 

 
  (C) The Project Facility will not constitute a project where facilities or 

property that are primarily used in making retail sales of goods or services to 
customers who personally visit such facilities constitute more than one-third of the 
total cost of the Project; and 

 
  (D) The granting of the Financial Assistance by the Agency with respect 

to the Project, through the granting of the various tax exemptions described in 



{H5267500.1} 4 
 

Section 2(D) of this Resolution, will promote the job opportunities, health, general 
prosperity and economic welfare of the inhabitants of Cortland County, New York 
and the State of New York and improve their standard of living, and thereby serve 
the public purposes of the Act; and 

 
  (E) Upon compliance with the provisions of the Act, the Agency would 

then be authorized under the Act to undertake the Project in order to promote the 
job opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the 
inhabitants of Cortland County, New York and the State of New York and improve 
their standard of living. 

 
 Section 2.  If, following full compliance with the requirements of the Act, including 
the public hearing requirements set forth in Section 859-a of the Act, the Agency adopts 
a future resolution ("Future Resolution") determining to proceed with the Project and to 
grant the Financial Assistance with respect thereto and the Company complies with all 
conditions set forth in the Future Resolution, then the Agency will (A) acquire an interest 
in the Project Facility from the Company pursuant to a deed, lease agreement or other 
documentation to be negotiated between the Agency and the Company (the "Acquisition 
Agreement"); (B) construct the Facility and acquire and install the Equipment in the 
Facility or elsewhere on the Land; (C) lease (with the obligation to purchase) or sell the 
Project Facility to the Company pursuant to a lease agreement or an installment sale 
agreement (hereinafter the "Project Agreement") between the Agency and the Company 
whereby the Company will be obligated, among other things, (1) to make payments to the 
Agency in amounts and at times so that such payments will be adequate to enable the 
Agency to timely pay all amounts due on the Acquisition Agreement and (2) to pay all 
costs incurred by the Agency with respect to the Project and/or the Project Facility, 
including all costs of operation and maintenance, all taxes and other governmental 
charges, any required payments in lieu of taxes and the reasonable fees and expenses 
incurred by the Agency with respect to or in connection with the Project and/or the Project 
Facility, and (D) provide the Financial Assistance with respect to the Project, in 
accordance with the Agency's uniform tax exemption policy, including (1) exemption from 
mortgage recording taxes with respect to any documents recorded by the Agency with 
respect to the Project in the Office of the County Clerk of Cortland County, New York or 
elsewhere, (2) exemption from sales taxes relating to the acquisition, construction and 
installation of the Project Facility, (3) exemption from deed transfer taxes and real estate 
transfer gains taxes on real estate transfers to and from the Agency with respect to the 
Project, and (4) exemption from real estate taxes (but not including special assessments 
and special ad valorem levies) relating to the Project Facility, subject to the obligation of 
the Company to make payments in lieu of taxes with respect to the Project Facility. 
 
 Section 3.  If the Agency adopts the Future Resolution, the undertaking and 
completing of the Project by the Agency, and the granting of the Financial Assistance with 
respect to the Project as contemplated by Section 2 of this Resolution, shall be subject 
to:  (A) the determination by the members of the Agency to proceed with the Project 
following a determination by the members of the Agency that all requirements of SEQRA 
that relate to the Project have been fulfilled; (B) agreement by the Agency and the 



{H5267500.1} 5 
 

Company on mutually acceptable terms for the conveyance of the Land to the Agency; 
(C) agreement between the Company and the Agency as to payment by the Company of 
payments in lieu of taxes with respect to the Project Facility, together with the 
administrative fee of the Agency with respect to the Project; (D) a determination by the 
members of the Agency to proceed with the granting of the Financial Assistance with 
respect to the Project following a determination by the members of the Agency that the 
public hearing and notice requirements and other procedural requirements contained in 
Section 859-a of the Act have been complied with; (E) the Agency's uniform tax exemption 
policy or if any portion of the Financial Assistance to be granted by the Agency with 
respect to the Project is not consistent with the Agency's uniform tax exemption policy, 
the Agency must follow the procedures for deviation from such policy set forth in Section 
874(b) of the Act prior to granting such portion of the Financial Assistance; and (F) the 
following additional condition(s): None. 
 
 Section 4.  The officers, agents and employees of the Agency are hereby 
authorized, empowered and directed to proceed with the undertakings provided for herein 
on the part of the Agency and are further authorized to do all such acts and things and to 
execute all such documents as may be necessary or convenient to carry out and comply 
with the terms and provisions of this Resolution. 
 
 Section 5.  John P. Sidd, Esq., of the law firm of Hancock Estabrook LLP is hereby 
appointed Special Counsel to the Agency with respect to all matters in connection with 
the Project.  Special Counsel for the Agency is hereby authorized, at the expense of the 
Company, to work with the Company, counsel to the Company and others to prepare for 
submission to the Agency, all documents necessary to effect the transactions 
contemplated by this Resolution. 
 

Section 6.  Pursuant to Section 875(3) of the Act, the Agency shall recover, 
recapture, receive, or otherwise obtain from the Company that portion of the Financial 
Assistance which constitutes state sales and use tax exemptions taken or purported to 
be taken by the Company to which the Company is not entitled or which are in excess of 
the amount authorized by the Agency or which are for property or services not authorized 
by the Agency as part of the Project or were taken by the Company when the Company 
failed to comply with a material term or condition to use property or services in the manner 
required by the Agency.  The Company shall cooperate with the Agency in its efforts to 
recover, recapture, receive, or otherwise obtain such state sales and use tax exemptions 
and shall promptly pay over any such amounts to the Agency.  The failure to pay over 
such amounts to the Agency shall be grounds for the New York State Commissioner of 
Taxation and Finance to assess and determine state sales and use taxes due from the 
Company under Article 28 of the Tax Law of the State of New York, together with any 
relevant penalties and interest due on such amounts. 
 
 Section 7.  The Executive Director and the Chief Financial Officer of the Agency, 
prior to the granting of any Financial Assistance with respect to the Project, after 
consultation with Special Counsel, are authorized (A) to establish a time, date and place 
for a public hearing of the Agency to hear all persons interested in the location and nature 



{H5267500.1} 6 
 

of the Project Facility and the proposed Financial Assistance being contemplated by the 
Agency with respect to the Project, said public hearing to be held in the city, town or 
village where the Project Facility will be located; (B) to cause notice of such public hearing 
to be given to the public by publishing a notice of such hearing in a newspaper of general 
circulation available to residents of the governmental units where the Project Facility is to 
be located, such notice to comply with the requirements of Section 859-a of the Act and 
to be published no fewer than ten (10) days prior to the date established for such public 
hearing; (C) to cause notice of said public hearing to be given to the chief executive officer 
of the county and each city, town, village and school district in which the Project Facility 
is or is to be located no fewer than ten (10) days prior to the date established for said 
public hearing; (D) to conduct such public hearing; and (E) to cause a report of said public 
hearing fairly summarizing the views presented at said public hearing to be promptly 
prepared. 
 
 Section 8.  The Chairman, Vice Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Financial 
Officer of the Agency are hereby authorized and directed to distribute copies of this 
Resolution to the Company and to do such further things or perform such acts as may be 
necessary or convenient to implement the provisions of this Resolution. 
 
 Section 9. This Resolution shall take effect immediately. 
 
 The question of the adoption of the foregoing Resolution was duly put to a vote on 
roll call, which resulted as follows: 

 
Michael McMahon   VOTING ______________ 

 Stephen Compagni   VOTING ______________ 
 Clinton Brooks   VOTING ______________ 
 John O. Reagan   VOTING ______________ 
 Johanna Ames   VOTING ______________ 
 Kathleen Burke   VOTING ______________ 

Donald Richards   VOTING ______________ 
 
 
  



{H5267500.1} 7 
 

The foregoing Resolution was thereupon declared duly adopted. 
 
STATE OF NEW YORK ) 
COUNTY OF CORTLAND )  ss.: 
 
 I, the undersigned Secretary of Cortland County Industrial Development Agency 
(the "Agency"), DO HEREBY CERTIFY, that I have compared the foregoing extract of the 
minutes of the meeting of the members of the Agency, including the Resolution contained 
therein, held on October 10, 2023 with the original thereof on file in my office, and that 
the same is a true and correct copy of such proceedings of the Agency and of such 
Resolution set forth therein and of the whole of said original so far as the same related to 
the subject matters therein referred to. 
 
 I FURTHER CERTIFY that (A) all members of the Agency had due notice of said 
meeting; (B) said meeting was in all respect duly held; (C) pursuant to Article 7 of the 
Public Officers Law (the "Open Meetings Law"), said meeting was open to the general 
public and due notice of the time and place of said meeting was given in accordance with 
such Open Meetings Law; and (D) there was a quorum of the members of the Agency 
present through said meeting. 
 
 I FURTHER CERTIFY that, as of the date hereof, the attached Resolution is in full 
force and effect and has not been amended, repealed or rescinded. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of the 
Agency this 10th day of October, 2023. 
 
 
        __________________________ 
        Clinton Brooks, Secretary 
 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Monthly Financials  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Cortland County IDA
Balance Sheet

September 30, 2023

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
NBT - Checking 5112 $ 91,839.96
NBT Proj Invest Checking 849,143.93
NBT Money Mkt Savings 49,424.43
Prepaid Expenses 1,612.36

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 992,020.68

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Land-Railroad Properties 209,818.00
Land-Contento Property 91,835.00
Land-Cleveland St - Apex 303,143.60
Leasehold Improvements 3,376.80
Accum.Depreciation-L.H.I. (2,532.60)
Office Equipment 5,909.00
Accum.Depreciation-Equip (5,909.00)

NET PROPERTY & EQUIPMENT 605,640.80

RECEIVABLES
Lease A/R - Park Outdoor 68,595.69

TOTAL RECEIVABLES 68,595.69

TOTAL ASSETS $ 1,666,257.17

LIABILITIES/FUND BALANCE

CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 0.00

LONG TERM LIABILITIES
Due to BDC-Contento Property $ 91,835.00
Deferred Inflows-Leases 68,595.69

TOTAL LONG TERM LIABILITIES 160,430.69

TOTAL LIABILITIES 160,430.69

FUND BALANCE
Unrestricted  Earnings 1,495,310.17
Net Income 10,516.31

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 1,505,826.48

TOTAL LIAB &  FUND BALANCE $ 1,666,257.17



Page: 1

Cortland County IDA
Income Statement

For the Nine Months Ending September 30, 2023

Current Month Year to Date
REVENUE
Interest on Deposits $ 2,089.44 $ 15,780.57
Lease Interest Revenue 0.00 2,161.69
Land Lease 0.00 14,171.31
National Grid Grant Program 0.00 61,149.00
Cort Crown Homes PILOT 0.00 23,902.40
Creamery Hills PILOT 0.00 10,341.33
83-85 Main LLC PILOT 0.00 14,000.00
Lapeer Cortland Solar PILOT 0.00 45,000.00
DG NY 1 C Ville LLC 0.00 22,950.00
Janis Solar LLC 0.00 30,600.00
Yellow 3 LLC 0.00 16,830.00
DG NY C'Ville #3 0.00 22,500.00

Total Revenue 2,089.44 279,386.30

TOTAL REVENUE 2,089.44 279,386.30

EXPENSES
Apex/Cleveland St Property 288.09 16,010.86
Accounting 0.00 8,000.00
Bank Charges 0.00 20.00
Legal 0.00 2,598.03
Professional Services 0.00 4,250.00
Property Tax-Sewer/Water 0.00 198.03
D & O Insurance 119.50 1,162.82
Depreciation 168.84 506.52
Cort Crown Homes PILOT 0.00 23,902.40
Creamery Hills PILOT 0.00 10,341.33
83-85 Main LLC PILOT 0.00 14,000.00
Lapeer Cortland Solar PILOT 0.00 45,000.00
DG NY 1 C Ville 0.00 22,950.00
Janis Solar LLC 0.00 30,600.00
Yellow 3 LLC 0.00 16,830.00
DG NY C'Ville #3 0.00 22,500.00
BDC Admin Support 0.00 50,000.00

TOTAL EXPENSES 576.43 268,869.99

NET INCOME $ 1,513.01 $ 10,516.31



 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Director’s Report  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 


	ADPB5F3.tmp
	Assistance - October 4, 2023, held at the Virgil Town Hall 1176 Church Street


	Impact on Land: Off
	1a: Off
	1b: Off
	1c: Off
	1d: Off
	1e: Off
	1f: Off
	1g: Off
	1h: Off
	1OtherImpacts: 
	2: Off
	2a: Off
	Specic Land Form: 
	2b: Off
	Nation Landmark: 
	2c: Off
	2OtherImpacts: 
	3: Off
	3a: Off
	3b: Off
	3c: Off
	3d: Off
	3e: Off
	3f: Off
	3g: Off
	3h: Off
	3i: Off
	3j: Off
	3k: Off
	3l: Off
	3Other Impacts: 
	4: Off
	4a: Off
	4b: Off
	4Cite Source: 
	4c: Off
	4d: Off
	4e: Off
	4f: Off
	4g: Off
	4Other Imapcts: 
	4h: Off
	5: Off
	5a: Off
	5b: Off
	5c: Off
	5d: Off
	5e: Off
	5f: Off
	5g: Off
	5Other Impacts: 
	6: Off
	6ai: Off
	6aii: Off
	6aiii: Off
	6aiv: Off
	6av: Off
	6vi: Off
	6b: Off
	6c: Off
	6d: Off
	6e: Off
	6f: Off
	6Other Impacts: 
	7: Off
	7a: Off
	7b: Off
	7c: Off
	7d: Off
	7e: Off
	7f: Off
	7Cite Source: 
	7g: Off
	7h: Off
	Habitat Type: 
	7i: Off
	7j: Off
	7Other Impacts: 
	8: Off
	8a: Off
	8b: Off
	8c: Off
	8d: Off
	8e: Off
	8f: Off
	8g: Off
	8h: Off
	8Other Impacts: 
	9: Off
	9a: Off
	9b: Off
	9ci: Off
	9cii: Off
	9di: Off
	9dii: Off
	9e: Off
	9f: Off
	9g: Off
	9Other Impacts: 
	10 Impact: Off
	10a: Off
	10b: Off
	10c: Off
	Archaeology: 
	10d: Off
	10Other Impacts: 
	10ei: Off
	10eii: Off
	10eiii: Off
	11: Off
	11a: Off
	11b: Off
	11c: Off
	11d: Off
	11e: Off
	11Other Impacts: 
	12: Off
	12a: Off
	12b: Off
	12c: Off
	12Other Impacts: 
	13: Off
	13a: Off
	13b: Off
	13c: Off
	13d: Off
	13f: Off
	13g: Off
	13Other Impacts: 
	14: Off
	14a: Off
	14b: Off
	14c: Off
	14d: Off
	14Other Impacts: 
	15: Off
	15a: Off
	15b: Off
	15c: Off
	14e: Off
	15d: Off
	15e: Off
	15f: Off
	15Other Impacts: 
	16: Off
	16a: Off
	16b: Off
	16c: Off
	16d: Off
	16e: Off
	16f: Off
	16g: Off
	16h: Off
	16i: Off
	16j: Off
	16k: Off
	16l: Off
	16Other Impacts: 
	16m: Off
	17: Off
	17a: Off
	17b: Off
	17c: Off
	17d: Off
	17e: Off
	17f: Off
	17g: Off
	17h: Off
	17Other: 
	18: Off
	18a: Off
	18b: Off
	18c: Off
	18d: Off
	18e: Off
	18f: Off
	18g: Off
	18Other Impacts: 
	Completed for the Project Part 2: Yes
	Type 1 Seqr Status: No
	Project EAF Part One: Yes
	EAF completed for this project part 3: Yes
	Part 3 Additional Sheets as Needed:  
	Project: iSpice LLC Project
	Date: 10/10/2023
	Part 3: Yes
	Upon Review of the information recorded on this EAF: See Attached Resolution
	Substantially Mitigated Because of the Following Condition: 
	Part Three - Name of Action: iSpice LLC Project
	Part Three - Name of lead agency: Cortland County Industrial Development Agency
	Part Three Responsible Officer: Brendan O'Bryan
	Part Three Title of Responsible Officer: Executive Director
	Text10: 
	Signature of Responsible Officer in Lead Agency: 
	Part Three Date One: 10/10/2023
	Part Three Date Two: 
	Text13: Brendan O'Bryan
	Part Three Address: 40 Main Street, Suite A, Cortland, New York 13045
	Part Three Telephone Number: 607-756-5005
	Part Three Email: Brendan@cortlandbusiness.com
	Part Three Maginitude and Importance: Cortland County Industrial Development Agency
	Print: 


